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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In accordance with the listing rules as stated in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”), this Report describes the corporate governance processes and activities of QAF Limited (“QAF”) 
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) with specifi c reference to the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 
(“Code”).

Principle 1 : Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board of Directors of QAF (“Board”) is scheduled to meet at least four times a year and as warranted by 
circumstances.  For the fi nancial year under review, the attendance of the directors of the Company (“Directors”) at 
meetings of the Board and Board committees is as follows:

Name

Board
Audit

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of 
Meeting 

Held

No. of 
Meeting 
Attended

No. of 
Meeting 

Held

No. of 
Meeting 
Attended

No. of 
Meeting 

Held

No. of 
Meeting 
Attended

No. of 
Meeting 

Held

No. of 
Meeting 
Attended

Didi Dawis 4 4 NA NA 1 1 1 1

Andree Halim 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Tan Kong King 4 4 NA NA 1 1 NA NA

Phua Bah Lee 4 3 4 3 1 1 1 1

Tarn Teh Chuen 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Derek Cheong Kheng Beng 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun 4 3 4 3 NA NA 1 1

Tan Hin Huat 4 4 4 4 NA NA NA NA

The Board arranges for telephonic-conferencing for any Director who is otherwise unable to be present physically at 
the meetings.

The Board is responsible generally for the broad business strategy and fi nancial objectives of the Group, monitoring 
the performance of the Management, as well as providing oversight in the proper conduct of the Group’s business.  
Specifi c matters which are referred to the Board for approval include the following:-

• Approval of periodic fi nancial results announcement
• Approval of annual audited consolidated accounts for the Group and the Directors’ Report thereto
• Approval of annual budgets for the Group
• Evaluating the adequacy of internal controls
• Assuming responsibility for corporate governance and compliances with the Companies Act and the rules and 

requirements of regulatory bodies
• Approval of major investment or divestment by the Group
• Approval of major funding proposal or bank borrowings
• Approval of major corporate restructuring
• Approval of interim dividends and proposal of fi nal dividends for shareholders’ approval
• Approval of issues of shares, warrants and any other equity or debt or convertible securities of the Company

Additionally, the Board delegates and entrusts certain of its functions and power to the Nominating, Audit and 
Remuneration Committees.
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Principle 1 : Board’s Conduct of its Affairs (cont’d)

The Management (with the assistance of external professionals when necessary) furnishes the Directors with 
information concerning the changes in laws, regulations or accounting standards  where they may be applicable to 
the Company and relevant in enabling the Directors to carry out their duties and responsibilities properly.  The Group 
Managing Director briefs the Board at the beginning of each fi nancial year on the general economy trend, specifi c 
industry factors and developments affecting the businesses of the Group and the Group’s business outlook for the 
year.

Principle 2 : Board Composition and Balance

The Board comprises eight Directors of whom three are executive Directors and fi ve are non-executive Directors.  
The non-executive Directors are Mr Didi Dawis (the Chairman of the Board), Mr Andree Halim (Vice-Chairman of the 
Board), Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun (chairman of Audit Committee), Mr Phua Bah Lee and Mr Tan Hin Huat.

The executive Directors are full-time employees of the Company, comprising Mr Tan Kong King (the Group Managing 
Director), Ms Tarn Teh Chuen (the Head of Treasury) and Mr Derek Cheong Kheng Beng (the Head of Corporate 
Development).

The Board considers Mr Phua Bah Lee, Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun and Mr Tan Hin Huat, who are non-executive directors, 
to be independent Directors. The criterion of independence is based on the principles stated in Paragraph 2.1 of the 
Code.  The Board also considers Mr Didi Dawis, a substantial shareholder of the Company who is deemed interested 
in approximately 10.42% of the issued shares of the Company, as independent for the purpose and intent of the 
Code.  As aside from his shareholdings, neither Mr Didi Dawis nor his associates have any business transactions 
or relationship whatsoever with the Company, its related companies or its offi cers which could interfere with the 
exercise of his independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company. 

Mr Andree Halim is considered as a non-independent Director in view of him having a controlling stake in the share 
capital of the Company.

The Board is of the view that the current board size of eight directors is appropriate and effective taking into account 
the nature and scope of the Group’s operations and the corporate goals and objectives the Group strives to achieve.  
As a group, the Board members bring on the Group invaluable knowledge and experience in accounting, fi nance, legal, 
business strategies, as well as  cross-border investment insights.

Principle 3 : Role of Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”)

There is a clear division of roles played by the independent Directors (who are non-executive) and the executive 
Directors (who are involved in the running of the Company and/or its subsidiaries), which ensures that there is a 
balance of power and authority at the top of the Group.  To enhance the balance of power, the posts of Chairman and 
the Group Managing Director are kept separate and these positions are held by Mr Didi Dawis and Mr Tan Kong King 
respectively, who are not related to each other.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management of the Group to the Group Managing Director. 

The Chairman, in addition to his duties as non-executive director of the Company, is responsible for the effective 
working of the Board as a whole. 
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Principle 4 : Board Membership

The Nominating Committee comprises two non-executive Directors and one executive Director, namely Mr Didi Dawis, 
Mr Phua Bah Lee and Mr Tan Kong King.

The Nominating Committee is charged with the responsibility of sourcing and recommending suitable candidates 
for the Board’s approval if there should be a need to appoint new directors whether to fi ll vacancies or as additional 
directors.  Any recommendation of the Nomination Committee is subject to the Board’s fi nal approval, whose decision 
shall be fi nal and binding.

The Nominating Committee is also empowered by the Board to decide on the re-appointment of members of the 
Board subject to retirement by rotation.  Article 93 of the Company’s Articles of Association requires one third of 
the Board (other than the Group Managing Director) to retire by rotation at every Annual General Meeting of the 
Company (“AGM”).

In deciding whether to nominate Directors to stand for re-election at each AGM, the Nominating Committee will assess 
and evaluate the contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The review parameters 
for evaluating each Director, include, among others, attendance at board/committee meetings, participation and 
involvement in decision-makings in meetings and knowledge and experience of the Directors which are relevant to 
the operations and conduct of businesses of the Group.

In reviewing whether Directors with other board representations are able to spend suffi cient time and attention on 
the Company’s affairs, the Nominating Committee takes into consideration the parameters as above described and 
is satisfi ed that such board representations have not compromised the Directors’ ability to carry out their duties 
adequately. 

The Nominating Committee also determines the independence of Directors annually in accordance with the guidelines 
set out in the Code.  

Principle 5 : Board Performance

The Board takes the view that all its members should be involved in the assessment of the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole and the setting of performance assessment criteria.

The Board believes that in evaluating its effectiveness, both quantitative and qualitative criteria of a long-term 
perspective ought to be taken into account.  In reviewing its performance, the Board gives due consideration to the 
fi nancial performance of the Group (with indicators such as its long-term revenue or profi t trend and/or such other 
appropriate indicators depending on the nature and scope of the Group’s business from time to time); the business 
expansion and growth potentials brought about by the Board in setting the strategic directions of the Group; and 
the effectiveness of the Board in redefi ning corporate strategies in a changing business environment and in steering 
the Group towards the objectives set, all of which should form part and parcel of the bases for sustaining long-term 
wealth and value in the Company.

Principle 6 : Access to Information

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfi l its responsibilities, the Management provides all the Board members 
with the Group’s monthly management accounts.  Detailed Board papers are prepared for each meeting of the Board 
and are normally circulated two days in advance of each meeting.  The Management is required to ensure that 
the Board papers contain adequate information pertaining to the agenda (including, as the case may be, budgets, 
forecast, fi nancial results and explanatory notes on variances) so as to enable the Directors to be properly briefed on 
issues to be considered at Board meetings.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Principle 6 : Access to Information (cont’d)

The Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary.  The Company Secretary attends 
all Board and Committee meetings and is responsible to ensure that minutes of meetings are properly and fairly 
recorded, rules on board procedures are observed and relevant statutes and regulations which are applicable to the 
Company or the Directors are complied with.

The Company Secretary is also tasked to co-ordinate communications for the non-executive Directors with the chief 
executive offi cers/general managers of the operating subsidiaries, the fi nancial controllers and other senior executives 
as and when required by the non-executive Directors. They are encouraged to speak to the individual offi cer-in-charge 
to seek additional information as they may deem fi t.

If Directors, whether as a group or individually, need independent professional advice, the Company Secretary will 
seek the appropriate external advice.  The cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

Principle 7 : Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 8 : Level and Mix of Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Directors, all of whom are non-executive Directors, namely Mr Didi 
Dawis, Mr Phua Bah Lee and Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated the tasks of reviewing the remuneration packages of the Group Managing 
Director and the other executive Directors to ensure that the packages are competitive and suffi cient to attract, 
retain and motivate executive directors of the required quality to run the Company and the Group successfully.  The 
Remuneration Committee also reviews the executive Directors’ compensation annually and determines appropriate 
adjustments.

The Board believes that the remuneration programme for the key executives of the Group (other than the executive 
Directors) is best set and determined by the Management.  The Board noted that it is the Group’s policy to set a level 
of remuneration that is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate all competent and loyal key executives.  Their 
remuneration generally include a fi xed as well as a variable component.  The fi xed component is the base salary 
and variable component is in the form of a variable bonus linked to the individual’s or the relevant subsidiary’s 
performance.  Annual adjustments to the remuneration are made taking into account the performance of the Group 
and/or of the relevant subsidiary, the prevailing market pay, the seniority and level of responsibilities of the individual 
as well as his/her performance.   Another element of the variable component for the key executives is the grant of 
share options under the QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 (“Scheme 2000”).

The Remuneration Committee adopts similar policy and approach as outlined in the paragraph above when reviewing 
the remuneration of the executive Directors.

Most of the Remuneration Committee members have certain degree of experience in managing fi rms or companies. 
The Remuneration Committee is encouraged to seek external professional help whenever it deems necessary.

The recommendations of the Remuneration Committee are subject to the fi nal decision and approval of the Board.  Any 
Directors who may have an interest in the outcome of the Board decisions are required to abstain from participation 
in the approval process.  
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Principle 8 : Level and Mix of Remuneration (cont’d)

All executive Directors do not receive any directors’ fees.  Non-executive directors are paid a basic fee and an additional 
fee for serving as the Chairman of the Board or members of the Audit Committee.  Such fees are subject to approval 
by the shareholders of the Company as a lump sum payment at each AGM of the Company.  The Company holds the 
view that, at this point in its development, the interests of maintaining the objectivity and independence of the non-
executive Directors is best served by a cash-based fi xed fees at a rate broadly in line with those that are adopted by 
a majority of other listed companies.  

The grant of share options pursuant to the Scheme 2000 is employed by the Group to provide long-term incentives 
for its executives. The Share Option Committee was established in year 2000 comprising Mr Didi Dawis, Mr Phua Bah 
Lee and Mr Tan Kong King to administer the Scheme in accordance with the rules as approved by shareholders of the 
Company in a general meeting held on 12 May 2000. The objectives of the Scheme are to motivate the executives 
(including the executive Directors) of the Group to optimise their performance standards and effi ciency and to retain 
key executives whose contributions are important to the long term growth and profi tability of the Group.

The limits on the maximum number of shares over which options may be granted to any one individual pursuant to 
the Scheme 2000 shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the Share Option Committee.

No member in the Share Option Committee is allowed to participate in any decisions over his own grant of options.  
Non-executive Directors are not eligible to participate in the Scheme 2000.

Principle 9 : Disclosure on Remuneration

The following tables refl ect the breakdown of Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration of the top 5 executives 
of the Group (in addition to the executive Directors) for year 2004:-

(1) Table shows breakdown of executive Directors’ Remuneration (in percentage terms):

 Salary Bonus Other Benefi ts* Total

$1,000,000 to below $1,250,000
Tan Kong King 70% 27% 3% 100%

$250,000 to below $500,000
Tarn Teh Chuen
Derek Cheong Kheng Beng

78%
73%

22%
24%

-
  3%

100%
100%

*excluding share options which are disclosed in the Directors’ Report

(2) Table shows non-executive Directors’ Fees:

$45,000 and below
Didi Dawis 

$30,000 and below
Andree Halim
Phua Bah Lee
Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun
Tan Hin Huat

Chairman of the Company

Vice-Chairman of the Company
Member of the Board and Audit Committee
Member of the Board and Audit Committee
Member of the Board and Audit Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE



31QAF Annual Report 04

Principle 9 : Disclosure on Remuneration (cont’d)

(3) Table shows the gross remuneration received by the top fi ve executives of the Group: 

Number of the top 5 executives of the Group in remuneration bands:-

$250,000 and above
Below $250,000

4
1

Total 5

The Group does not employ any immediate family member of a Director or the Group Managing Director.

Principle 10 : Accountability

The Directors fully recognise the principle that the Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management 
is accountable to the Board.

The Company has adopted quarterly reporting since 1 January 2003.  In presenting the annual fi nancial statements 
and quarterly announcements to shareholders, the Board has and will continue to provide the shareholders with a 
balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s and the Group’s performance, position and prospects.  

Management currently provides the Board with appropriately detailed management accounts of the Company and 
the Group on a monthly basis.

Principle 11 : Audit Committee

Principle 12 : Internal Controls

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three non-executive Directors (Mr Phua Bah Lee, Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo 
Khun and Mr Tan Hin Huat) all of whom are independent.  All its members are appropriately qualifi ed to discharge 
their responsibilities.  Both Mr Phua Bah Lee and Mr Tan Hin Huat hold a degree in Bachelor of Commerce and Mr 
Kelvin Chia is a senior practising lawyer.

Mr Kelvin Chia has assumed the chairmanship of the Audit Committee with effect from 1 January 2004.

The Audit Committee performs the functions set out in the Companies Act and the Code.  It has written terms of 
reference which sets out its authority and duties.  Some of its responsibilities include:

• To review the audit plans of the Company’s external auditors and their evaluation of the systems of internal 
accounting controls arising from their audit examination

• To review the external auditors’ report (including assistance given by the Company’s offi cers to the external 
auditors)

• To review the fi nancial statements of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group before 
their submission to the Board

• To review periodic results announcements of the Company before their submission to the Board
• To review interested person transactions pursuant to the Listing Manual
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Principle 13: Internal Audit (cont’d)

• To review annually the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, taking into consideration the non-
audit services provided to the Company and to recommend on the appointment or re-appointment of the external 
auditors

• To review scope and results of the internal audit procedures
• To review the periodic fi ndings of the internal auditors and with the assistance of the internal auditors, conduct 

an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls

The Audit Committee is empowered by its written charter to investigate any matter relating to the Group’s accounting, 
auditing, internal controls and fi nancial practices brought to its attention.  It has full access to and co-operation of 
the Management, including the internal auditors, and has full discretion to invite any Director and executive offi cer 
to attend its meetings.

The Group has an internal audit team of two internal auditors who are members of the Institute of Certifi ed Public 
Accountants of Singapore and the Institute of Internal Auditors.  Their primary line of reporting is to the chairman 
of the Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee ensures that the team is adequately resourced.  It also reviews and 
approves the annual internal audit plan proposed by the team.  The internal auditors, like the external auditors, report 
independently their fi ndings and recommendations to the Audit Committee.

The review of the Group’s systems of internal control is a continuing process.  The system of internal control adopted 
by the Group is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.  Based 
on the audit reports and management controls in place, the Audit Committee is satisfi ed that there are adequate 
material internal controls in place for the Group.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility overall for ensuring that there is a sound system of internal control to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investments and Company’s assets, and is satisfi ed that there has been no signifi cant 
breakdown or weaknesses in the material aspect of the internal controls for the Group.

Principle 14 : Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15 : Greater Participation by Shareholders

The Company believes in timely and transparent corporate disclosure as prescribed in Appendix 7.1 (corporate 
disclosure policy) of the Listing Manual.  Shareholders are informed of all major developments that affect the Group.  
Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a selected group, the Company will make the same disclosure publicly 
to all others as soon as practicable.  Communication is made through:

• annual reports that are prepared and sent to all shareholders.  The Board ensures that the annual report includes 
key relevant information about the Company and the Group, including, inter-alia, a review of the Group’s major 
operations and their general outlook, disclosures required by the Companies Act, Listing Manual, and the 
Accounting Standards;

• quarterly fi nancial announcements on the fi nancial performance of the Group for that period and operation 
reviews;

• circulars for extraordinary general meetings;
• announcements and disclosures to the SGX-ST via SGXNET; and
• the Company’s website at http://www.qaf.com.sg at which our shareholders can access information on the 

Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Principle 15 : Greater Participation by Shareholders (cont’d)

The shareholders of the Company are encouraged to attend the AGMs.  At AGMs, the shareholders are given the 
opportunity to air their views and ask questions regarding the Company and the Group. The notice of the AGM is sent 
to our shareholders at least 14 days before the meeting.  Directors and members of the respective Committees are 
normally present and available to address questions relating to the work of their Committees at general meetings.  
Furthermore, the external auditors are present to assist the Board in addressing any relevant queries raised by the 
shareholders.

Each item of special business in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation for 
the proposed resolution.  Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting.

To facilitate voting by shareholders, the Articles of Association of the Company allow its shareholders to appoint one 
or two proxies to attend and vote on their behalf.

Dealings in Securities

The Company has an internal code on dealings in the shares of the Company by key executives of the Group, which 
is modelled after the SGX’s Best Practices Guide.  The internal code is issued to all Directors of the Company and 
the relevant executives of the Group before the start of each prohibition period to remind Directors and relevant 
executives to refrain from dealing in the shares of the Company two weeks prior to release of the quarterly and four 
weeks prior to the release of the full year announcements of the Group’s fi nancial results.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
required by the Listing Manual

Rule 1207(4)(c) : Information relating to the background of key management staff

Siew Teck Woh, aged 63, was made the Managing Director of Gardenia Foods (S) Pte Ltd in 1998, the Gardenia Bakery 
operation of the QAF Group in Singapore. Dr Siew spent a large part of his early career in the Primary Production 
Department (“PPD” and now called the Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority) of the Singapore Government including 
being the Director of the PPD for 9 years. During his tenure with PPD, Dr Siew was involved in the strategic formulation 
and implementation of various agri-business and livestock development programmes in Singapore. After leaving 
the PPD, Dr Siew worked with the KMP Pte Ltd group of companies for about 13 years. He was in charge and was 
instrumental in setting up an integrated chain of livestock activities for the KMP Group. Dr Siew was a Columbo Plan 
Scholar and graduated with a Bachelor of Veterinary Science degree from the University of Queensland, Australia. He 
was awarded an Honorary Doctorate in Veterinary Science by the University of Queensland in 1994.

Nigel Smith, aged 56, is the chief executive offi cer of QAF Meat Industries Pty Ltd (“QAF Meats”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the QAF Group.  He has the responsibility of overseeing the entire integrated pork production business 
carried out by the QAF Meats Group in Australia as well as the dairy farm in Cobram, Victoria, that was acquired 
by Oxdale Dairy Enterprise, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the QAF Group.  Mr Smith has been with the QAF Meats 
Group for over 30 years. Prior to him assuming the position as chief executive offi cer of the QAF Meats Group, he 
was in various senior executive positions covering pig production, sales and marketing, and meat processing.  He 
has played a major role in developing the QAF Meats Group from a small pig producer to the largest fully integrated 
operator in Australia and one of the largest in the world.  Mr Smith is currently the deputy chairman of Australia Pork 
Limited which is the industry body responsible for marketing, research and policy for pork producers in Australia.  He 
graduated with a Diploma of Agricultural Science from Dookie Agricultural College, Australia.

Yap Kim Shin, aged 53, is the chief executive offi cer of the Gardenia Bakery group of companies in Malaysia (“Gardenia 
Malaysia Group”).  Gardenia Malaysia Group is the major bread producer in Malaysia, “Gardenia” was recognised as 
one of the superbrands in Malaysia by the Superbrand Council in 2002.  Mr Yap has been with the Gardenia Malaysia 
Group since 1987, contributing signifi cantly to the success of the “Gardenia” products in Malaysia.  Prior to joining 
Gardenia Malaysia, he had worked with Cold Storage Malaysia and IAC (M) Sdn Bhd.  Mr Yap is a Monash Science 
graduate and has completed a post graduate programme in Marketing Management in London.

Simplicio P. Umali, Jr, aged 52, assumed the position as the general manager of the Gardenia Bakery operation of 
the QAF Group in the Philippines in August 1999.  Prior to him taking charge of the Gardenia Bakery operations in 
the Philippines, he was the chief executive offi cer of Dutch Boy (Philippines) Inc., a major paint manufacturer, and 
the country manager of Hoechst Marion Roussel (Philippines), a pharmaceutical company.  Mr Umali has extensive 
experience in marketing, having taken charge of the marketing function in his previous employment for over 10 years; 
he was also a part-time assistant professor and lecturer of Marketing at De La Salle University in the Philippines for 
12 years.  He is a graduate of Business Administration (majored both in Finance and Marketing) and holds a Master of 
Business Administration from the University of the Philippines.

Philip Lee Tuck Wah, aged 55, was appointed the chief executive offi cer for the trading and distribution arm of the 
QAF Group - Ben Foods since 1989. As the key subsidiary of the QAF Group engaging in the trading and distribution 
of consumer food products, Ben Foods provides marketing and sourcing support to other subsidiaries within the QAF 
Group. In 1997, Mr Lee was tasked to take charge of the warehousing logistics and spices manufacturing operations of 
the QAF Group. Mr Lee has close to 29 years of experience in the marketing of food and beverages to-date. Prior to 
joining Ben Foods, he had worked with Allied Chocolate Ltd (formerly a listed company in Singapore) and Sime Darby 
Singapore.  Mr Lee has a Bachelor degree from the University of Singapore in Social Science (Hons).

Derrick Lum Weng Piu, aged 43, is the group fi nancial controller for the QAF Group.  He has been with the QAF Group 
since 1997 and was made the group fi nancial controller in October 1999.  Mr Lum has 19 years of experience in the area 
of accounting and fi nance.  Prior to joining QAF, he was the regional controller for a multi-national and a Singapore-
listed group.  Mr Lum is a certifi ed public accountant of the Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants of Singapore as 
well as a chartered fi nancial analyst of the CFA Institute.  He also holds a Master of Business Administration from the 
United Kingdom.
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Rule 1207(4)(d) : Information relating to risks

1. Disease Outbreak and Farm Contamination

 The Primary Production Division of the Group consists of the QAF Meats Group ('QAF Meats'), an integrated 
producer of meat, which operates eight company-owned farms and 52 Contract Grower sites spread out across 
the Australian states of Victoria and New South Wales.  QAF Meats has approximately 52,000 breeder pigs and 
a total population of more than 500,000 pigs. In addition, the Group has purchased and is operating a dairy 
farm at Cobram with approximately 1,000 herds of dairy cows.

 All livestock face potential health epidemic outbreaks.  Infectious diseases can be spread by either animal 
contact or farm contamination.  Livestock farming is the mainstay of QAF Meats.  If a health epidemic should 
erupt in the farms, depending on the locality and proximity of the contaminated areas, various animals would 
have to be culled and the operations shut down.  In recent years, there had been outbreaks which caused 
massive culling of pigs and closures of farms in many countries in Asia.  The pig farming industries in these 
countries have been adversely affected.

 Although Australia is geographically isolated and has strict quarantine laws, there is no guarantee that the 
Group’s livestock will not be affected by disease epidemics.  QAF Meats has taken preventive measures of 
enforcing the highest standards of quarantine and by geographically spreading out its farms to prevent cross 
contamination.  The 8 QAF Meats-owned farms and the 52 Contract Grower farms are well spaced out across 
the two Australian states.  Within each farm, large tracts of buffer land are also maintained which surrounds 
the production units and this minimises the probability of contamination from spreading between the different 
herds.

2. Regulatory Sanctions

(a) Meat Industry
 QAF Meats is in the fresh meat industry, with vertically integrated operations ranging from the breeding 

and rearing of livestock, to the slaughtering and boning process, to the marketing and delivery of fresh 
products, and even the preparation of the stockfeed.  These processes are regulated by numerous health 
and food safety organisations and subject to regulatory sanctions.  In Australia, the meat industry is 
governed by the Australian Quarantine and Inspection Services ('AQIS') which is responsible for the 
registration of abattoirs for both the domestic and export markets.  In terms of the export of meat, QAF 
Meats is subject to the regulations of foreign regulatory bodies in the territories in which it markets its 
meat products including the Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority in Singapore and the Livestock Industry 
Bureau of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry & Fisheries in Japan.

 QAF Meats currently meets the regulatory requirements of the above organisations.  However, as with 
all trade and exports in the fresh meat industry, regulatory requirements and sanctions may be imposed 
suddenly due to health, disease, environmental or other reasons.  If such sanctions are imposed, QAF 
Meats' business will be affected and it may be forced to seek other markets for its products. Failure 
to seek other markets for its products on a timely basis or at all, will adversely affect the business, 
fi nancial performance and position of the Group.

(b) Environment
 QAF Meats is also regulated by the Victorian and New South Wales Environmental Protection Authorities 

('EPAs').  In the ordinary course of business, large amounts of solid and liquid effl uent are produced 
which need to be treated.  As part of the obligations imposed by the EPAs, QAF Meats has undertaken 
irrigation development plans to apply treated abattoir and livestock effl uent to agricultural land over the 
next few years.  The EPAs could impose further mandatory requirements which could affect QAF Meats' 
business in future and have a negative impact on the Group’s fi nancial performance and position.
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3. Cyclical, Seasonal and Varying Consumer Demand

 The meat industry is fi rstly subject to the cyclical seasonal demand for certain types of meat.  Consumer 
demand for meat could fl uctuate due to seasonality, for example, surges in demand for particular cuts of meat 
during the Christmas season or the Chinese Lunar New Year festivities.

 Further, the industry is also subject to varying consumer demand.  This could be attributable to food safety 
considerations, such as the drop in meat sales in the aftermath of particular epidemic outbreaks.  These 
fl uctuations in demand and sales would impact QAF Meats in the relevant affected markets.

4. Competition

 The markets that QAF Meats operates in are subject to occasional periods of oversupply.  The latter can arise 
from a number of sources such as overproduction from local producers in Australia or 'dumping' of frozen 
imported products in the export markets.

 However, QAF Meats' strategy is to maintain itself as one of the most effi cient and competitive producers in 
the region through its production and technological expertise as well as its ability to achieve lower unit cost 
through economies of scale.  Furthermore, QAF Meats targets the fresh meat market segments in Australia, 
Singapore and Japan which are not subject to competition from cheap imported frozen products.  QAF Meats 
is also dominant in both the Australian domestic and export market and this should enable it to adjust its 
marketing strategies according to market competition.

 The Group’s bread manufacturing business is subject to direct competition from supermarket chain stores 
who manufacture their own in-house bread and bakery products under their own brand names for sale in 
their stores (“In-house Brands”). For example in Singapore, the Group’s direct competitors in the bread 
manufacturing business include NTUC Fairprice Co-operative Ltd and the Cold Storage chain of supermarkets, 
both of which have their own In-house Brands. Although the Group’s ‘Gardenia’ and ‘Bonjour’ brands are 
amongst the leading brands in the packaged loaf bread market in Singapore, such In-house Brands typically 
compete on low-pricing. In the event that the Group is unable to compete effectively and continuously attract 
and retain its customers, the Group’s bread manufacturing business and operating results may be affected.

5. Employee Turnover/Union Risks

 The Group's bakery operations require its production employees to work on shifts, which in most cases are 24 
hours per day, and its sales and delivery staff (who deliver bakery products to customers such as supermarkets, 
convenience stores, petrol stations and provision shops) to work within a very tight time frame and mostly in 
the very early hours of the morning.

 QAF Meats is also highly dependent on skilled staff to operate its feedmills, piggeries and meat processing 
plants.  The nature of work at the piggeries and meat processing plant requires vocationally trained personnel 
and staff to work on shift systems to ensure maximum productivity and that the pigs are cared for to the 
highest standards.

 Staff members in the bakery operations and QAF Meats are largely trained on-the-job.  Any loss of staff or 
disruption in work would adversely affect the productivity and business of both the bakery operations and 
QAF Meats until suitable replacements are found and trained.  Furthermore, occupational health and safety 
issues, equal opportunity issues, compensation and industrial relations issues could also result in industrial 
action and high employee turnover. Failure of the Group to retain its trained personnel and/or to fi nd suitable 
replacements on a timely basis will be disruptive to its business operations.

6. Fluctuations in Raw Material Prices

 The prices of raw material costs affect the livestock farming and meat industries.  Such industries are subject 
to swings in production costs determined largely by grain prices.  Grain prices fl uctuate depending on the 
farming season's weather, quality and yield of crop, and such prices will in turn affect the costs of production 
of animal feed and ultimately production cost per animal.  As QAF Meats purchases the bulk of its grain at the 
harvest season, any price fl uctuations of raw agriculture produce at that point will therefore affect production 
costs which QAF Meats may not be able to offset commensurately by higher selling prices of its meat products.  
This will have an impact on QAF Meats' overall business profi tability.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
required by the Listing Manual
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6. Fluctuations in Raw Material Prices (cont’d)

 To some extent, the above fl uctuations in raw material grain prices particularly wheat prices will also affect 
fl our prices.  The latter will lead to increases in production costs of the bakery operations which may not be 
able to raise selling prices of their bakery products adequately to offset the full impact of the rise in production 
costs.

7. Fluctuations in Energy Costs

 Energy costs are subject to global economic and political developments which are largely outside of the Group's 
control.  Bakery products are delivered by a fl eet of Company-owned delivery vehicles in the early morning, 
seven days a week within a tight time frame to customers so as to ensure freshness.  QAF Meats exports its 
fresh chilled meat products by refrigerated containers on board commercial jet airlines.  Distribution costs will 
increase signifi cantly in the event of the escalation of crude oil prices.  

 The Group can only mitigate distribution cost increases through effi cient logistics planning and controls to 
some extent.

8. Financial Risks
 

(a) Credit Risk
 In the normal course of business, the Group sales do involve the extension of credit to customers such 

as supermarkets, convenience stores, petroleum companies, wholesalers, retailers and food service 
and catering operators.  However, there are no signifi cant concentrations of credit risk.

 The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each fi nancial asset in 
the balance sheet.

(b) Liquidity risk
 The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents which management deems 

adequate to fi nance the Group's operations and to mitigate the effects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows.

(c) Foreign currency risk
 The Group operates within the Asia Pacifi c region and companies within the Group maintain their books 

and records in their respective measurement currencies. The Group’s accounting policy is to translate 
the profi ts and losses of overseas companies using the weighted average exchange rates. Net assets 
denominated in foreign currencies and held at year end are translated into Singapore dollars, the Group’s 
reporting currency, at year end. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the measurement currency 
of the subsidiary companies and Singapore dollars will therefore have an impact on the Group. Further, 
there is no assurance that the Group will be able to maintain its fi nancial performance and position in 
the event of long term unfavourable movement in exchange rates. As such, signifi cant  fl uctuations in 
foreign exchange rates would have an impact on the fi nancial performance and position of the Group.

(d) Interest rate risk
 The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group's short-

term and long-term bank borrowings. The interest rates on such obligations are fi xed at the prevailing 
market rates as and when they fall due for rollover.  The period for rollover is between one to six 
months.  An increase in the prevailing interest rates will result in an increase in the interest expense of 
the Group and this may have an impact on the fi nancial performance or position of the Group.

(e) Share Price Fluctuation Risks
 The Group has an investment portfolio which substantially comprises listed shares on the SGX-ST. 

Share prices of such listed companies are subject to fl uctuations due to various reasons including 
developments and volatility in the capital markets or market reactions to reported fi nancial results. 
Any unfavourable movements in the share prices of such listed companies will adversely affect the 
valuation of QAF’s investment portfolio.

 Additionally, listed companies may, from time to time, carry out fund raising exercises by way of rights 
or otherwise, which may have an impact on the share price of such listed companies and indirectly 
affect the valuation of QAF’s investment portfolio.
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Rule 907 : Interested Person Transactions for fi nancial year 2004

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 

fi nancial year under review 
(excluding transactions conducted 

under Shareholders’ Mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920 of the SGX 

Listing Manual)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted under 
Shareholders’ Mandate pursuant to 
Rule 920 of the SGX Listing Manual 

P.T. Indofood Sukses Makmur

KMP Properties Pte Ltd

$6 1,047

$25,600

$31,370

$12,800

The Shareholders’ Mandate granted by members of the Company pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual at the 
extraordinary general meeting held on 29 May 2003 had expired on 30 April 2004 without renewal.

The Interested Persons of the above transactions were the associates (as defi ned in the Listing Manual) of Mr Andree 
Halim (a controlling shareholder of the Company), being companies in which he and his immediate family together 
(directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more.

Rule 1207(8) : Material contracts of the issuer and its subsidiaries

Save for the transactions entered into with the Interested Persons under the Shareholders’ Mandate as disclosed in 
the paragraph above, there were no material contracts (or loans) entered into by the Company and/or its subsidiaries 
with the directors or chief executive offi cer or substantial shareholders of the Company which were still subsisting 
at the end of the fi nancial year under review, or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous 
fi nancial year.

Rule 1207(9)(E) – Minimum percentage of shares held by the public

Based on the computation that the various substantial shareholders of the Company hold in aggregate approximately 
71.5% of the stock units of the Company (see page 102 of the Annual Report), the Company confi rms that at least 10% 
of its listed equity stocks are held by the public.

Rule 1207(6) – Non Audit Services of Auditors

The non-audit fees paid by the Group to auditors, Ernst & Young, in FY2004 amounted to approximately $99,000. The 
Audit Committee has undertaken a review of such non-audit services provided and in the Audit Committee’s opinion 
they would not affect the independence of the auditors.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
required by the Listing Manual
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Report of the Directors

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of QAF Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiary companies (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2004.

Directors of the Company

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are :-

Didi Dawis (Chairman)
Andree Halim (Vice-Chairman)
Tan Kong King (Group Managing Director)
Phua Bah Lee
Tarn Teh Chuen
Derek Cheong Kheng Beng
Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun
Tan Hin Huat

Save as disclosed and stated below, no directors who held office at the end of the financial year, have, according to the 
register required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in the stock units or 
convertible securities of the Company :-

 Direct interest Deemed interest 
 At beginning At end At beginning At end
Name of director  of the year of the year of the year of the year

Number of stock units of $0.40 each
Didi Dawis 3,437,000 3,437,000  42,383,712 42,383,712
Phua Bah Lee –    –    25,000 25,000
Tan Kong King 400,000 1,375,000 –    –   
Andree Halim 187,194,152 244,492,690 –    –   
Tarn Teh Chuen –    287,500 –    –   

Number of QAF Limited Share Options 
to subscribe for shares in the Company
Tan Kong King 1,100,000   1,300,000 –    –   
Tarn Teh Chuen 710,000  730,000 –    –   
Derek Cheong Kheng Beng –    200,000 –    –   

Number of Warrants 2009 to subscribe 
for shares in the Company
Andree Halim –    56,898,538 –    –   
Tan Kong King –    675,000 –    –   
Tarn Teh Chuen –    57,500 –    –   

There was no change in any of the abovementioned interests of the directors between the end of the financial year and 
21 January 2005.

No director who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in shares or debentures of the Company‘s 
subsidiary companies.
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Directors of the Company (cont’d)

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or has become entitled to receive benefits under 
contracts required to be disclosed by Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 except those disclosed in 
Note 6 to the financial statements.

Except for the share options and warrants as disclosed above, neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during 
that year, did there subsist any arrangements, to which the Company is a party, whereby directors might acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Share Options to subscribe for ordinary shares

(a) Share options under the QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 (the “2000 Scheme”)

(i) The 2000 Scheme was approved by the members of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 12 May 2000. The total number of shares in respect of which options may be offered on any offering 
date, when added to the number of shares issued or issuable in respect of options under this Scheme shall 
not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the Company on the day preceding that offering date.

 The exercise price of each share in respect of an option granted may be (i) the average of the last dealt 
prices of the shares of the Company, as determined by reference to the Financial News or other publication 
published by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, for the three consecutive trading days 
immediately preceding the date of grant of that option (“Market Price”) or (ii) at a discount not exceeding 
20% of the Market Price, but in any event no exercise price shall be less than the par value of the share.

 An option granted without discount to the Market Price shall be exercisable from the 1st anniversary to the 
10th anniversary of the offer date.  An option granted at a discount to the Market Price shall be exercisable 
from the 2nd anniversary to the 10th anniversary of the offer date.

(ii) Disclosures pursuant to Rule 852 of the Listing Manual :

 The 2000 Scheme is administered by the 2000 Share Option Committee with members appointed by the 
Board, comprising two non-executive directors (namely Mr Didi Dawis and Mr Phua Bah Lee) and one 
executive director (namely Mr Tan Kong King).  Non-executive directors, controlling shareholders of the 
Company and their associates (as defined in the Listing Manual) are not eligible to participate in the 2000 
Scheme.  The directors of the Company who were granted options under the 2000 Scheme are as follows :

    Aggregate options Aggregate options
    granted since exercised since
    commencement commencement Aggregate options
   Options granted of the 2000 Scheme of the 2000 Scheme outstanding as at
   during financial to end of financial to end of financial end of financial
  Name of participant year under review year under review year under review year under review

  Tan Kong King 500,000   1,600,000 300,000   1,300,000
  Tarn Teh Chuen 250,000    960,000 230,000   730,000
  Derek Cheong 
   Kheng Beng 200,000 200,000    Nil    200,000

 None of the executive directors and employees of the Group who participated in the 2000 Scheme has 
received 5% or more of the total number of options available under the 2000 Scheme.
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Share Options to subscribe for ordinary shares (cont’d)

(b) Unissued ordinary shares under options as at 31 December 2004 comprise :

  For ordinary shares
  of $0.40 each Exercise price
  in the Company per share Exercise period

 QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 2,005,000 $0.630 26 May 2001 to 
    25 May 2010

 QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 1,023,000 $0.430 19 April 2002 to 
    18 April 2011

 QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 2,632,000 $0.555 5 April 2003 to
    4 April 2012

 QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 3,690,000 $0.523 13 May 2005 to
    12 May 2014

 The holders of the QAF Limited Share Option have no right to participate by virtue of these options in any share 
issue of any other company in the Group.

Audit committee

The audit committee performed the functions specified in the Companies Act.  The functions performed are detailed in the 
Report on Corporate Governance.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board,

Andree Halim
Director

Tan Kong King
Director

Singapore
8 March 2005

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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We, Andree Halim and Tan Kong King, being two of the directors of QAF Limited, do hereby state that, in the opinion of 
the directors :

(i) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated profit and loss account, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2004 and of the results of 
the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004, and

(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board,

Andree Halim
Director

Tan Kong King
Director

Singapore
8 March 2005

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Section 201(15)
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of QAF Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies 
(the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to 97 for the year ended 31 December 2004.  These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s directors.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the directors, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.

In our opinion, 

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up 
in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”)  and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 
31 December 2004 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on 
that date; and 

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary companies 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.  

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
8 March 2005

AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the Members of QAF Limited
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(In Singapore dollars except earnings per share data)
  Note 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

Revenue 3 619,997 809,388
Cost and expenses
Cost of materials  367,323 568,864
Staff costs 4 127,746 139,832
Amortisation and depreciation 5 27,741 29,338
Repairs and maintenance  15,930 15,013
Operating lease rentals  3,931 18,339
Other operating expenses  50,750 51,528

Total cost and expenses  593,421 822,914

Profit/(loss) from operating activities 6 26,576 (13,526)

Finance costs 7 (8,158) (10,431)

Exceptional items 8 (1,866) 32,973

Share of profit/(loss) of associated and joint venture companies  650 (496)

Profit before taxation and minority interests  17,202 8,520

Taxation 9 (4,579) 27,942

Minority interests  (2,262) (3,871)

Net profit for the financial year  10,361 32,591

Earnings per ordinary share of $0.40 each :
  10
  –  Basic     2.9 cents 9.6 cents
  –  Diluted     2.9 cents 9.6 cents

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 December 2004

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   



46 QAF Annual Report 04

(In Singapore dollars)
  Group Company
  Note 2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Livestock 11 64,753 64,975 –    –   
Inventories 12 69,959 54,260 –    –   
Trade receivables 13 74,703 53,298 –    –   
Other receivables 14 13,731 12,086 55,868 78,074
Tax recoverable  2,124 1,924 –    –   
Short-term investments 15 1,247 2,716 –    –   
Cash and deposits 16 36,230 83,582 5,151 15,272

   262,747 272,841 61,019 93,346

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 283,478 276,481 2,990 2,593
Subsidiary companies 18 –    –    266,136 229,483
Associated companies  19 10,657 2,483 –    –   
Joint venture company 20 4,231 3,633 –    –   
Investments 21 48,540 22,155 998 998
Intangibles  22 10,828 1,644 708 846
Deferred tax asset 26 2,543 1,884 –    –   

   360,277 308,280 270,832 233,920

Total assets  623,024 581,121 331,851 327,266

BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 December 2004

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   
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(In Singapore dollars)
  Group Company
  Note 2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade payables  62,335 54,030 22 48
Other payables 23 36,594 26,604 4,887 2,012
Short-term borrowings 24 76,596 89,391 48,111 67,302
Long-term loans and finance 
  leases – current portion 25 44,784 48,849 –    –   
Tax payable  3,792 4,803 876 966

   224,101 223,677 53,896 70,328

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 23 8,167 7,362 9,537 33,930
Long-term loans and finance leases 25 46,071 59,514 –    –   
Deferred taxation 26 10,283 10,256 207 450

   64,521 77,132 9,744 34,380

Total liabilities  288,622 300,809 63,640 104,708

   334,402 280,312 268,211 222,558

Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 175,905 140,512 175,905 140,512
Reserves 28 132,516 123,455 92,306 82,046

   308,421 263,967 268,211 222,558
Minority interests  25,981 16,345 –    –   

   334,402 280,312 268,211 222,558

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   
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(In Singapore dollars)
        Foreign
        currency
   Share  Share Revaluation Capital Revenue translation
   capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 31 December 2002 134,700 2,821 2,506 11,805 70,569 (10,045) 212,356

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
 revenue reserve –    –    (49) –    49 –    –   
Transfer to revenue reserves upon 
 disposal of a subsidiary company –    –    –    (3,251) 3,251 –    –   
Transfer to capital reserve due to bonus 
 shares issued by a subsidiary company –    –    –    8,402 (8,402) –    –   
Exchange differences arising 
 on consolidation –    –    –    –    –    17,007 17,007

Net gain not recognised in the profit 
 and loss account –    –    (49) 5,151 (5,102) 17,007 17,007
Issuance of ordinary shares by exercise 
 of Warrants 2003 5,800 2,170 –    (721) –    –    7,249
Issuance of ordinary shares by exercise 
 of QAF Limited Share Options 12 5 –    –    –    –    17
Dividends  –    –    –    –    (5,253) –    (5,253)
Net profit for the financial year –    –    –    –    32,591  –    32,591

Balance at 31 December 2003 140,512 4,996 2,457 16,235 92,805 6,962 263,967

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
 revenue reserve –    –    (48) –    48 –    –   
Exchange differences arising on 
 consolidation –    –    –    –    23 (4,317) (4,294)

Net loss not recognised in the profit and 
 loss account –    –    (48) –    71 (4,317) (4,294)

Issuance of ordinary shares by exercise 
 of QAF Limited Share Options 212 16 –    –    –    –    228
Issuance of rights shares 35,181 8,607 –    –    –    –    43,788
Dividends  –    –    –    –    (5,629) –    (5,629)
Net profit for the financial year –    –    –    –    10,361 –    10,361

Balance at 31 December 2004 175,905 13,619 2,409 16,235 97,608 2,645 308,421

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2004

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   
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(In Singapore dollars)
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities :

Profit before taxation and minority interests  17,202 8,520
Adjustments for :
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  27,450 29,176
  (Gain)/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment  (1,589) 25
  Property, plant and equipment written off  2 574
  Share of (profit)/loss of associated and joint venture companies  (650) 496
  Amortisation of intangible assets  291 162
  Interest expense  8,158 10,431
  Dividend and interest income  (1,708) (939)
  Loss on sale of long-term investments  –    58
  Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  –    1,500
  Net gain on disposal of subsidiary companies  (1,334) (36,673)
  Impairment loss on long-term investments  3,200 3,700
  Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary companies  (276) –   

Operating profit before working capital changes  50,746 17,030

Increase in receivables  (16,401) (408)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories and livestock  (9,555) 7,314
Increase in payables   7,909 19,692
Decrease/(increase) in short-term investments  1,469 (1,115)
Exchange differences  (1,735) (3,945)

Cash generated from operations  32,433 38,568

Interest paid  (8,577) (9,804)
Interest received  1,406 899
Income tax paid  (6,499) (4,739)

Net cash provided by operating activities  18,763 24,924

Cash flows from investing activities :

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (28,091) (30,284)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment  281 549
Purchase of investments  (29,585) (11,300)
Purchase of shares in an associated company  (17,211) (7)
Dividend received from quoted investments  302 40
Increase in advances to associated companies  (473) (154)
Proceeds from sale of long-term investments  –    1,291
Purchase of shares from minority shareholder of a subsidiary company  (373)    –
Net cash flow on disposal of subsidiary companies, net of cash disposed  (Note A)  3,870 37,915
Purchase of trademarks  –    (741)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies, net of cash acquired (Note B)  (2,429) –   

Net cash used in investing activities  (73,709) (2,691)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2004
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(In Singapore dollars)
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

Cash flows from financing activities :

Dividends paid during the year  (5,629) (5,253)
Dividends paid to external shareholders of subsidiary companies  (1,664) (559)
Net (repayment)/proceeds from short term borrowings  (11,030) 12,424
(Repayment of)/proceeds from bank borrowings  (18,099) 9,098
Proceeds from issuance of share capital  44,016 7,266

Net cash provided by financing activities  7,594 22,976

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (47,352) 45,209
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (Note 30)  83,582 38,373

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  (Note 30)  36,230 83,582

Note A – Analysis of disposal of subsidiary companies

Property, plant and equipment  2,925 39,198
Associated companies  –    1,248
Investments  –    (77)
Inventories  –    21,265
Receivables  3 5,042
Cash and cash equivalents  15 9,885
Payables  –    (41,416)
Short-term loans  –    (4,000)
Provision for taxation  –    (584)
Deferred taxation  –    (1,298)
Foreign currency translation reserve  (392) –   

   2,551 29,263
Advances recoverable   –    (7,339)
Minority interests  –    (10,797)
Gain on disposal  1,334 36,673

Consideration  3,885 47,800
Cash and cash equivalents disposed  (15) (9,885)

Net cash flow on disposal, net of cash and cash equivalents disposed  3,870 37,915

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2004
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(In Singapore dollars)
    2004
    $’000

Note B – Analysis of acquisition of subsidiary companies

Property, plant and equipment   11,265
Inventories    5,922
Receivables    6,268
Payables   (9,813)
Borrowings   (1,154)
Cash    10,143
Minority share of net assets of a subsidiary   (9,783)

Net assets acquired   12,848

Goodwill arising on acquisition   (276)

Cash paid   12,572
Cash and cash equivalents acquired   (10,143)

Cash flow arising from the acquisition   2,429

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.   
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1. Corporate information

 QAF Limited is a public limited liability company incorporated in Singapore.  The registered address of QAF Limited 
is 150 South Bridge Road, #09-04 Fook Hai Building, Singapore 058727.

 The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding and management company.  The principal 
activities of the Group consist of the manufacture and distribution of bread, bakery and confectionery products; 
provision for warehousing logistics for food items; trading and distribution in food and beverages; production, 
processing and marketing of meat; feedmilling and sale of animal feeds and related ingredients; production, 
processing and sale of dairy products and investment holding.  

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation
 
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 

(“FRS”) as required by the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50.  

 The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and Group and are consistent with 
those used in the previous year.

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of 
certain property, plant and equipment and valuation of the livestock at fair values.

 The fi nancial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ($).  

(b) Basis of consolidation
 
 The financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary 

companies made up to the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2004.  The accounting year 
of the Company and all its subsidiary companies ends on 31 December except for Challenge Australian 
Dairy Pty Ltd which has an accounting year ending 30 June.  For purpose of consolidation, an audit was 
carried out for Challenge Australian Dairy Pty Ltd for the period from 18 October 2004 (date of acquisition 
by the Group) to 31 December 2004.  The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed during 
the period are included in or excluded from the consolidated profit and loss account from the date of their 
acquisition or disposal.  Acquisition of subsidiary companies is accounted for using the purchase method of 
accounting.  Inter-company balances and transactions and resulting unrealised profits are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

(c) Foreign currencies
 
 Transactions arising in foreign currencies during the year are translated into measurement currencies at 

rates closely approximating those ruling on the transaction dates.  Foreign currency monetary assets and 
liabilities at the balance sheet date are translated into measurement currency at exchange rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date.  All exchange differences arising from such translations are included in the profit and 
loss account.  Exchange differences arising from long-term inter-company balances which are effectively 
part of the net investments are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(c) Foreign currencies (cont’d)

 For inclusion in the consolidated financial statements, all assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiary companies 
and associated companies are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date and the results of foreign subsidiary companies and associated companies are translated into 
Singapore dollars at the average exchange rates.  Exchange differences due to such currency translations 
are included in foreign currency translation reserve.  On disposal of a foreign subsidiary company, such 
foreign currency translation reserve is recognised in the profit and loss account as a component of the gain 
or loss on disposal.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and are translated at the closing rate.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
loss.  The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to working condition for its intended use.  Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals are 
capitalised and expenditure for maintenance and repairs are included in the profit and loss account.  When 
assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and 
any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is included in the profit and loss account.

 Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives or terms of the leases, 
whichever is shorter.

(e) Depreciation

 Depreciation is not provided for freehold land and for construction-in-progress until it is completed and put 
into use.

 Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of other property, plant and equipment, including those 
held under finance leases, on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned.  
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are :

   %
 Freehold buildings - 2.0 - 2.5
 Leasehold land and buildings - 2.0 - 6.0 
 Leasehold improvements - 2 - 20
 Plant and machinery - 5 - 33 1/3

 Furniture, fittings and office equipment - 10 - 40
 Motor vehicles - 10 - 33 1/3

 The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that the method and period of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and 
equipment.

 Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use and no further 
charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f) Associated and joint venture companies

 The Group treats as associated companies those companies in which a long term equity interest of 
between 20 and 50 percent is held and over whose financial and operating policy decisions it has significant 
influence.

 Companies in which the Group holds an interest on a long-term basis and are jointly controlled by the Group 
with one or more parties under a contractual agreement are treated as joint ventures.

 Associated and joint venture companies are accounted for under the equity method whereby the Group’s 
share of profits and losses of associated and joint venture companies is included in the consolidated profit 
and loss account.  The Group’s share of the post-acquisition reserves is included in the investments in 
the consolidated balance sheet.  These amounts are taken from the latest audited financial statements of 
the companies concerned, made up to the end of the financial year of the Group.  Where the accounting 
policies of associated and joint venture companies do not conform with those of the Group, adjustments 
are made on consolidation, if the amounts involved are considered to be significant to the Group.

(g) Investments

 Long-term investments, including investments in subsidiaries and associated companies in the financial 
statements of the Company, are stated at cost and provision is made for any impairment loss, determined 
on an individual basis.

 Investments held as current assets are stated at the lower of cost and market value.  Market value is the 
middle market price at the balance sheet date.  Changes in market value are included in the profit and loss 
account.

(h) Intangibles

(i) Goodwill
 Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of the 

identifiable net assets of subsidiary companies and associated companies when acquired.  Positive 
goodwill is amortised through the consolidated profit and loss account on a straight line basis over 
its useful economic life up to a maximum of 20 years, determined on individual basis.  Goodwill which 
is assessed as having no continuing economic value is written off immediately to the consolidated 
profit and loss account.

(ii) Negative goodwill
 Negative goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess of the fair value of the identifiable net 

assets acquired over the cost of acquisition.

 To the extent that negative goodwill relates to an expectation of future losses and expenses that 
are identified in the plan of acquisition and can be measured reliably, but which have not yet been 
recognised, it is recognised in the profit and loss account when the future losses and expenses are 
recognised.  Any remaining negative goodwill, not exceeding the fair values of the non-monetary 
assets acquired, is recognised in the profit and loss account over 10 years, the weighted average 
useful life of those assets that are depreciable or amortisable.  Negative goodwill in excess of 
fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired is recognised immediately in the profit and loss 
account.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) Intangibles (cont’d)

(ii) Negative goodwill (cont’d)
 Negative goodwill is presented in the same balance sheet classification as goodwill.  With respect to 

associates, negative goodwill is included in the carrying value of the investment.

(iii) Trademarks
 Costs relating to trademarks, which are acquired, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and impairment loss, if any. Trademarks are amortised through the profit and loss account on a 
straight line basis over a period of 20 years.

(iv) Others
 Preliminary and pre-operating expenses, and research and development costs are expensed as 

incurred, except for development expenditure which are expected to generate future economic 
benefits.  Such development expenditure are capitalised and amortised through the profit and loss 
account on a straight line basis over a period of 5 years upon commencement of operations.  

(i) Inventories
 
 Raw materials, consumables, finished goods and spare parts are stated at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value.  Cost is primarily determined on a weighted average basis or first-in-first-out basis for 
certain subsidiary companies, and includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.  In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure and production 
overheads based on the normal level of activity.   

 Net realisable value is the price at which the inventories can be realised in the normal course of business 
after allowing for the costs of realisation and, where appropriate, the cost of conversion from the existing 
state to a finished condition.  Provision is made, where necessary, for obsolete, slow-moving and defective 
inventories.

(j) Livestock 
 
 Livestock are stated at their fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs, except where the fair value cannot 

be measured reliably, in which case it will be stated at cost.  The fair value of livestock is determined based 
on market prices of livestock of similar age, breed and genetic merit.

 Net increments or decrements in the fair value of livestock are included in the profit and loss account, 
determined as :

(a) the difference between the total fair value of the livestock recognised at the beginning of the financial 
year and the total fair value of the livestock recognised at the end of the financial year; and

(b) cost incurred during the financial year to acquire and breed livestock.

(k) Trade and other receivables
 
 Trade and other receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised and carried at original 

invoiced amount less provision for doubtful debts.  An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection 
of the full amount is no longer probable.  Bad debts are written-off to the profit and loss accounts as 
incurred.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l) Impairment of assets
 
 Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account or treated as a 
revaluation decrease for assets carried at revalued amount to the extent that the impairment loss does not 
exceed the amount held in the revaluation surplus for that same asset.

 Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the 
impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.  The reversal is recorded in 
income or as a revaluation increase.  However, the increased carrying amount of an asset due to a reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised to the extent it does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for that 
asset in prior years.

(m) Trade and other payables
 
 Liabilities for trade and other payables, which are normally settled on 30-90 day terms, are carried at cost, 

which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether 
or not billed to the Group.

(n) Provisions
 
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made on the amount of the obligation.

(o) Loans and borrowings
 
 All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received, 

net of transaction costs associated with the loans or borrowings.  After initial recognition, interest bearing 
loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost, taking into account any discount or premium on 
settlement.

(p) Share capital
 
 Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recorded at the fair value of the consideration received by the 

Company.   Dividends on ordinary shares are accounted for in the shareholders’ equity in the period in 
which they are declared payable.

 As and when warrants of the Company are exercised, the value of such warrants standing to the credit of 
the capital reserve account are transferred to the share premium account.

(q) Revenue recognition
 
 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 

the revenue can be reliably measured.  The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met 
before revenue is recognised.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(q) Revenue recognition (cont’d)
 
 Revenue from the sale of goods and services are recognised upon passage of title and risks to the customer 

which generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance.  

 Rental and interest income is recognised on time proportion basis.

 Dividend income is recorded gross in the profit and loss accounts in the accounting period in which the 
Group’s right to receive payment is established.  

 Profits or losses on disposal of investments are included in the profit and loss account.

(r) Income taxes
 
 Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance 

sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled based on 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
losses and unabsorbed capital allowances, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits can be utilised.

 At each balance sheet date, the Group re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets and the carrying 
amount of deferred tax assets.  The Group recognises a previously unrecognised deferred tax asset to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  
The Group conversely reduces the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilised. 

 Deferred tax is charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, 
in the same or a different period, directly to equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other if they relate to the same tax authority and 
can be offset.

(s) Borrowing costs
 
 Interest on borrowings to finance the construction of properties and plants is capitalised.  Interest is 

capitalised from the date work starts on the property to the date when substantially all the activities that are 
necessary to get the property ready for use are complete.  Interest on other borrowings are recognised as 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(t) Employee benefits

(i) Executives’ Share Option Scheme
 The Company has in place the QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 for the granting of share 

options to eligible employees of the Group to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company.  When 
such options are exercised, the nominal value of the shares subscribed for is credited to the share 
capital account and the balance of the proceeds, net of any transaction costs, is credited to the share 
premium account.  Details of the Scheme are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements. 

(ii) Defined contribution/benefit plans
 As required by law, the Group’s companies in Singapore make contributions to the state pension 

scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”).   Certain of the Group’s companies outside Singapore 
make contributions to their respective countries’ pension scheme.  Such contributions are 
recognised as compensation expense in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the 
contribution.

 For retirement benefit schemes, the cost of retirement benefit is determined using the accrued 
benefit valuation method.  Contributions made to the scheme are included in the profit and loss 
account.  Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income and expenses when the cumulative 
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the obligation and fair value of plan assets.  
The gains or losses are recognised over the average remaining working lives of the employees 
participating in the scheme.

(iii) Employee entitlements
 Liabilities for paid annual leave and sick leave are recognised and measured as the amount unpaid 

at the balance sheet date at current pay rates in respect of employees’ services up to that date.
 A liability for long service leave is recognised, on the basis of an estimation of the present value 

of the future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
balance sheet date.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using 
interest rates that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(u) Finance leases
 
 Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at amounts equal, at the inception of the lease, to the fair value 
of the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.  Finance charges are 
charged directly to the profit and loss account.

(v) Segment information
 
 The Group’s operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of their 

activities, namely food manufacturing, primary production, trading and logistics, investments and others.  
The Group operates in five main geographical areas, namely Singapore, Malaysia, Australia, China and 
the Philippines.  Geographical segment revenue is based on geographical location of the customers.  
Geographical segment assets are based on geographical location of the Group’s assets.  Segment 
accounting policies are the same as the accounting policies described in Note 2 to the financial statements.  
Inter-segment sales are based on terms determined on a commercial basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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3. Revenue

 Revenue for the Group includes the invoiced value of goods sold and services rendered, less returns, discounts and  
goods and services tax, and excludes sales between Group companies.  

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Sale of goods  608,506 797,985
 Rental income from storage and warehousing facilities  6,179 6,756
 Interest income from:
 -  Fixed deposits with financial institutions  762 625
 -  Advances to associated company  225 274
 -  Others  419 –   
 Gross dividends from quoted equity investments  302 40
 Miscellaneous  3,604 3,708

   619,997 809,388

4. Staff costs
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 (a) Staff costs (including Executive Directors) :
  - salaries, wages and other related costs  117,875 128,545
  - CPF and  contributions to other plans  4,915 6,925
  - superannuation contributions  4,956 4,362

   127,746 139,832

  Group
   2004 2003

 (b) Number of employees as at 31 December  4,143 4,032

5. Amortisation and depreciation
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Amortisation of intangibles (Note 22)  291 162
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 17)  27,450 29,176

   27,741 29,338
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6. Profit/(loss) from operating activities
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Profit/(loss) from operating activities is stated after charging/(crediting) :
 Auditors’ remuneration :
 -  Auditors of the Company  329 278
 -  Other auditors  311 262
 Professional fees for non-audit services rendered :
 -  by the auditors of the Company  29 142
 -  by other auditors  70   146
 Fees and remuneration for the directors of the Company :
 -  fees  132 119
 -  remuneration  1,582 1,661
 -  contribution to the Central Provident Fund  36 83
 Provision for/(writeback of) diminution in value of short-term investments  286 (159)
 Loss/(gain) on sale of investments  923 (468)
 Research and development cost  6,807 10,366
 (Increase)/decrease in the fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of  
  livestock, net  (8,330) 2,665
 Fees paid to a firm in which a director of the Company is a partner  3 1
 Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net  592 (5,044)

 Remuneration of the Directors of the Company pursuant to Rule 1207(11) of the Listing Manual is as follows:

 Number of directors in remuneration bands
   2004 2003

 $1,000,000 to below $1,250,000       1          -
 $750,000 to below $1,000,000  - 1
 $250,000 to below $500,000   2 3 *
 Below $250,000   5 5

 Total  8 9

* (inclusive of the remuneration of a director who resigned during the financial year ended 31 December 2003).

   2004 2003

 Executive directors  3 4 *
 Non-executive directors  5 5

 Total  8 9

* (including a director who resigned during the financial year ended 31 December 2003).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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7. Finance costs
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Interest expense on fixed term bank loans  8,158 10,431

8. Exceptional items
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Net gain on disposal of subsidiary companies  1,334 36,673
 Impairment loss on cost of long-term investments  (3,200) (3,700)

   (1,866) 32,973

9. Taxation
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Income tax (credit)/expense on the profit for the year:
 - current tax  5,293 7,762
 - deferred tax  (187) (35,134)

    5,106 (27,372)
 Over provision in respect of prior years :
 - current tax  (396) (377)
 - deferred tax  (169) (53)

    4,541 (27,802)
 Share of taxation of associated and joint venture companies  38 (140)

 Tax expense/(credit)  4,579 (27,942)
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9. Taxation (cont’d)

 The income tax expense on the results of the Group and Company differ from the amount of tax determined by 
applying the Singapore statutory tax rate of 20% (2003 : 22%) to the profit before taxation due to the following 
factors :

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Profit before taxation  17,202 8,520

 Tax expense at statutory tax rate of 20% (2003 : 22%)  3,440 1,874
 Adjustments :
   Income not subject to tax  (2,439) (7,909)
   Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  2,274 1,267
   Tax reliefs, rebates and incentives  (1,036) (1,845)
   Utilisation of tax benefits not recognised in previous years  (284) (150)
   Tax benefits not recognised in current year  4,285 50
   Differences in effective tax rates in other countries  1,514 (2,873)
   Overprovision in respect of prior years  (307) (430)
   Tax effect from the adoption of tax consolidation scheme by subsidiary 
      companies in Australia  (2,351) (17,809)
   Effect of change in statutory tax rate  (258) –   
   Others  (259) (117)

 Tax expense/(credit)  4,579 (27,942)

 A loss-transfer system of group relief (Group Relief Scheme) for companies was introduced in Singapore with effect 
from year of assessment 2003.  Under the Group Relief Scheme, a company belonging to a group may transfer 
its current year unabsorbed capital allowances and current year unabsorbed trade losses to another company 
belonging to the same group, to be deducted against the assessable income of the latter company.

 During the current financial year, a subsidiary company had transferred $275,465 (2003 : $210,990) of its unutilised 
capital allowances and $348,446 (2003 : nil) of its unutilised tax losses to the Company under the Group Relief 
Scheme.

 As at 31 December 2004, the Company intends to transfer unutilised tax losses of $1,116,880 from a subsidiary 
company under the Group Relief Scheme, subject to compliance with the relevant rules and procedures and 
agreement of Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore.

 Current year tax expense of the Company is net of the tax effect of the unutilised capital allowances and trade 
losses transferred.

 After the transfer of unutilised capital allowances and trade losses as mentioned above, the Group has unutilised 
tax losses and capital allowances of approximately $24,496,000 (2003 : $1,877,000) and $675,000 (2003 : 
$1,211,000) respectively which can, subject to the provisions of relevant local tax legislation and subject to the 
agreement with the relevant tax authorities, be carried forward and utilised to set off against future taxable profits.  
The potential tax benefit arising from such unutilised tax losses and capital allowances has not been recognised in 
the financial statements due to the uncertainty of its recoverability.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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10. Earnings per ordinary share of $0.40 each

 The calculation of earnings per ordinary share of $0.40 each is based on the following figures :

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Group earnings used for the calculation of EPS :

 Profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders  10,361 32,591

 Number of shares used for the calculation of :  ’000 ’000  

 (i) Basic EPS  

    Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  358,963 338,834

 (ii) Diluted EPS

    Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  358,963 338,834
  Share options  184 233
  Warrants 2009  4,028 –   

  Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares  363,175 339,067

 Basic earnings per share is calculated on the Group profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders of the 
Company divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year.

 Diluted earnings per share is calculated on the same basis as basic earnings per share except that the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year have been adjusted for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares.   

11. Livestock
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000
 Livestock :
 - at fair value  39,243 35,475
 - at cost  25,510 29,500

   64,753 64,975

   2004 2003

 Physical quantity of pigs :
 - Number of progeny  451,676 429,545
 - Number of breeders  69,251 68,186

   520,927 497,731
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11. Livestock (cont’d)

 The Group’s livestock comprises progeny and breeder pigs owned by subsidiary companies.  The progeny pigs 
are raised for slaughter and sale. The breeder pigs are held to produce further progeny pigs.  The fair value was 
determined based on the actual selling prices approximating those at year end.  Significant assumptions made in 
determining the fair value of the livestock are:

(i) Progeny pigs aged up to 17 weeks are valued at cost as no active or liquid markets exist for these pigs;

(ii) Progeny pigs aged 18 weeks and above are valued at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs; and

(iii) Breeder pigs are valued at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs.

 Reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount : 
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Balance at 1 January  64,975 50,729
 Currency realignment  95 15,054
 Increase due to purchases  147,340 215,069
 Loss arising from changes in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs 
   attributable to physical changes  (226) (3,574)
 Gain arising from changes in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs 
   attributable to price changes  8,556 909
 Decrease due to sales  (155,987) (213,212)

 Balance at 31 December  64,753 64,975

12. Inventories
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 At cost :
   Raw materials   37,074 30,729
   Finished goods  3,917 13,708
   Spare parts and consumables  1,693 1,131
   Work-in-progress  13 24

   42,697 45,592

 At net realisable value :
   Raw materials   2,908 2,122
   Finished goods  18,850 1,895
   Spare parts and consumables  5,504 4,651

   27,262 8,668

 Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value  69,959 54,260

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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12. Inventories (cont’d)

 The carrying value of inventories include inventories determined by the following cost methods :

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 First-in-first-out  12,193 10,021
 Weighted average  57,766 44,239

   69,959 54,260

 Inventories are stated after deducting provision for obsolescence of  1,068 448

 Raw materials of the Group as at 31 December 2004 amounting to $26,900,000 (2003 : $21,902,000) have been 
charged to a bank in connection with credit facilities granted to a subsidiary company.

13. Trade receivables
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Trade debtors  77,032 56,102
 Less : Provision for doubtful debts  (2,329) (2,804)

   74,703 53,298

 Movements in provision for doubtful debts are as follows :

 Balance at beginning of year  2,804 2,889
 Currency realignment  (98) (94)
 Disposal of subsidiary companies  (365) (662)
 Acquisition of a subsidiary company  13 –   
 Provision made during the year  317 755
 Bad debts written off against provision  (342) (84)

 Balance at end of year  2,329 2,804
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14. Other receivables

  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Prepayments  3,619 3,234 22 20
 Sundry deposits  668 873 8 149
 Staff advances and loans  269 201 4 5

 Sundry debtors  9,241 7,785 4,097 3,606
 Less : Provision for doubtful debts  (66) (7) –    –   

   9,175 7,778 4,097 3,606

 Amounts due from subsidiary companies
 - interest bearing  –    –    37,463 73,894
 - non-interest bearing  –    –    14,274 2,400
 Less: Provision for doubtful debts  –    –    –    (2,000)

   –    –    51,737 74,294

   13,731 12,086 55,868 78,074

 Staff loans are unsecured, interest-free and payable through monthly instalments over a period up to 5 years from 
the date the loan is granted.

 The non-interest bearing amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed 
terms of repayment.  The interest bearing amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured, bear interests at 
rates ranging from 5.87% to 6.33% (2003 : 5.87% to 6.33%) per annum and have no fixed terms of repayment.

 Movements in provision for doubtful sundry debts are as follows :
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of year  7 4 
 Provision made during the year  68 3
 Bad debts written off against provision  (9) –

 Balance at end of year  66 7

 Movement in provision for doubtful debts for amounts due from subsidiary companies are as follows:

  Company 
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of year  2,000 2,000 
 Write back during the year   (2,000) –

 Balance at end of year  – 2,000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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15. Short-term investments

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Quoted equity shares in corporations, at cost  1,533 2,853
 Less : Provision for diminution in value  (286) (137)

   1,247 2,716

 Market value as at end of year  1,247 2,716

 The market price as at year end has been used to determine the fair value of quoted equity shares in 
corporations.

 Movements in provision for diminution in value of short-term investments are as follows:
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of year  137 659
 Provision/(writeback) during the year  286 (159)
 Provision written back on disposal of investment  (137) (363)

 Balance at end of year  286 137

16. Cash and deposits

  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Fixed deposits with financial institutions  15,942 60,407 4,489 14,363
 Cash and bank balances  20,288 23,175 662 909

   36,230 83,582 5,151 15,272

 Fixed deposits are made for varying periods between three to thirty days and the effective interest rate on the fixed 
deposits approximate 3.32% (2003 : 1.26%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)

17. Property, plant and equipment

  Freehold Freehold Leasehold land 
  land buildings and buildings 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Group
 Cost/valuation :
   At 1.1.2004 14,973 110,897 96,953 
   Currency realignment (91) 296 (1,247) 
   Additions 62 933 –    
   Disposals/write-off –    –    –    
   Acquisition of subsidiary companies –    2,334 –    
   Disposal of subsidiary companies –    –    (4,304)  
   Transfers 1,988  2,068 3,996  

   At 31.12.2004 16,932 116,528 95,398 

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss
   At 1.1.2004 :
   - accumulated depreciation –    34,972 26,547 
   - accumulated impairment loss –    –    2,000 

  –    34,972 28,547 
   Currency realignment –    139 (103) 
   Charge for the year –    3,453 3,211 
   Disposals/write-off –    –    –    
   Acquisition of subsidiary companies –    101 –    
   Disposal of subsidiary companies –    –    (957) 
   Transfers –    (1) 1,128 
   Impairment loss reversed due to disposal 
  of subsidiary company –    –    (1,500) 

   At 31.12.2004 –    38,664 30,326 

   Charge for 2003 –    3,158 3,570 

 Net book value :
   At 31.12.2004 16,932 77,864 65,072 

   At 31.12.2003 14,973 75,925 68,406 
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Leasehold Plant and Furniture, fittings Motor Construction
improvements machinery and office equipment vehicles in progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

14,032 234,385 22,889 28,529 12,170 534,828
(277) (2,987) (201) (663) (150) (5,320)
952 8,359 524 4,198 13,063 28,091
(216) (622) (132) (1,620) –    (2,590)
695 8,668 514 380 274 12,865

–    (179) (203) –    –    (4,686)
609  13,482  106  370  (22,619) –   

15,795 261,106 23,497 31,194 2,738 563,188

5,427 154,094 15,629 19,678 –    256,347
–    –    –    –    –    2,000

5,427 154,094 15,629 19,678 –    258,347
(80) (1,438) (109) (439) –    (2,030)

708 15,144 1,548 3,386 –    27,450
(233) (594) (94) (1,475) –    (2,396)

99  1,010 262 128 –    1,600
–    (607) (197) –    –    (1,761)
–    (2,466) 1,179  160  –    –   

–    –    –    –    –    (1,500)

5,921 165,143 18,218 21,438 –    279,710

1,348 14,481 3,572 3,047 –    29,176

9,874 95,963 5,279 9,756 2,738 283,478

8,605 80,291 7,260 8,851 12,170 276,481
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17. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Analysis of cost and valuation

     Assets at
    Cost valuation Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000

 Freehold land   16,932 –    16,932
 Freehold buildings   116,528 –    116,528
 Leasehold land and buildings   80,697 14,701   95,398
 Leasehold improvements   15,795 –    15,795
 Plant and machinery   261,106 –    261,106
 Furniture, fittings and office equipment   23,497 –    23,497
 Motor vehicles   31,194 –    31,194
 Construction-in-progress   2,738 –    2,738

    548,487 14,701   563,188

    Furniture,
    fittings
   Leasehold and office Motor
   improvements equipment vehicles Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 Company
 Cost :
   At 1.1.2004  2,580 784 280 3,644
   Additions  195 174 326 695

   At 31.12.2004  2,775 958 606 4,339

 Accumulated depreciation :
   At 1.1.2004  192 650 209 1,051
   Charge for the year  123 75 100 298

   At 31.12.2004  315 725 309 1,349

   Charge for 2003  84 49 36 169

 Net book value
   At 31.12.2004  2,460 233 297 2,990

   At 31.12.2003  2,388 134 71 2,593

(a) Leasehold land and buildings owned by an overseas subsidiary company was required to be revalued by the 
authorities in 1998.  The valuation was made by the directors based on professional appraisals by Colliers 
Jordan Lee and Jaafar Sdn Bhd, a Chartered Valuation Surveyor, in May 1998.   The valuation was made 
on the basis of open market value on an existing use basis.

(b) The net book value of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings had it been carried at cost is $61,314,000 
(2003 : $66,969,000).

(c) The net book value of property, plant and equipment includes an amount of $1,461,563 (2003 : nil) which 
are held under finance leases.

(d) Included in the Group’s property, plant and equipment are property, plant and equipment of certain subsidiary 
companies with a net book value of $5,867,000 (2003 : $7,927,000) which are not in commercial use as at 
31 December 2004.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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18. Subsidiary companies

  Company
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  118,412 112,261
 Impairment loss  (4,126) (10,475)

   114,286 101,786

 Advances to subsidiary companies  165,089 143,128
 Less : Provision for doubtful debts  (13,239) (15,431)

   151,850 127,697

   266,136 229,483

 Movement in impairment loss is as follows :
 Balance at beginning of year  10,475 12,975
 Write-back during the year  (6,349) (2,500)

 Balance at end of year  4,126 10,475

 Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows :
 Balance at beginning of year  15,431 39,309
 Write-back during the year  (1,781) (19,486)
 Bad debts written off against provision  (3,411) (4,392)
 Provision made during the year  3,000 –   

 Balance at end of year  13,239 15,431

 The advances to subsidiary companies are unsecured and interest-free other than as detailed below.  There are 
no fixed terms of repayment and no repayments are expected within the next 12 months, except for an amount of 
$19,221,480 (2003 : $26,523,277) which cannot be repaid to the Company until the subsidiary companies have 
paid their respective term loans from a bank. 

 Interest approximating to the cost of funds at rates ranging from 0.4% to 2.5% (2003 : 0.30% to 0.55%) per annum 
is receivable on advances to subsidiary companies amounting to $64,501,964 (2003 : $75,591,746).

 Details of subsidiary companies are set out in Note 39.
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19. Associated companies 
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  17,864 653
 Group’s share of post-acquisition accumulated profits/(losses)  532 (42)
 Currency realignment  (301) (284)
 Goodwill on acquisition  (9,475) –   

   8,620 327
 Advances to associated companies  2,037 2,156

   10,657 2,483

 The Group’s investment in associated companies represent unquoted equity shares held by subsidiary 
companies.

 The advances to associated companies are unsecured, with no fixed terms of repayment and are not expected to 
be repaid within the next twelve months.  Interest approximating at the rate of 11.5% (2003 : 11.5%) per annum is 
receivable on advances amounting to $1,771,000 (2003 : $1,871,100) due from associated companies.

 Details of associated companies are set out in Note 39.

20. Joint venture company
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  2,997 2,997
 Establishment costs  52 52
 Group’s share of post-acquisition accumulated losses  (287) (325)
 Currency realignment  877 909
 Advances to joint venture company  592 –   

   4,231 3,633

 The Group’s investment in the joint venture company represents unquoted equity shares held by a subsidiary 
company.  The joint venture agreement provides that neither the Group nor the other shareholder may transfer any 
of its shares for a period of five years from the date of the joint venture agreement without the prior consent of the 
other shareholder.

 Details of the joint venture company are set out in Note 39.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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20.  Joint venture company (cont’d)

 The Group’s share of the assets and liabilities of the joint venture company comprise :

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Balance sheet :
   Property, plant and equipment  7,276 7,295
   Other assets  2,319 1,140
   Liabilities  (6,027) (4,854)

   3,568 3,581

 Profit and loss account :
   Revenue  20,630 6,731
   Expenditure  (20,576) (7,196)

   Profit/(loss) before taxation  54 (465)
   Taxation  (16) 140

   Profit/(loss) after taxation  38 (325)

  

21. Investments
  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Quoted equity shares in 
   corporations
   At cost  39,155 11,300 –    –   
   Less : impairment loss  (3,200) –    –    –   

   35,955 11,300 –    –   
 Quoted bond, at cost  998 998 998 998

 Unquoted equity shares in corporations, at cost  13,557 13,557 –    –   
 Other unquoted investment  1,730 –    –    –   
 Less : impairment loss  (3,700) (3,700) –    –   

   11,587 9,857 –    –   

   48,540 22,155 998 998

 (i) Market value as at end of year :
  - Quoted equity shares in corporations  34,579 11,783 –    –   

  - Quoted bond  1,030 1,030 1,030 1,030

 (ii) Market value as at latest practicable date:
  - Quoted equity shares in corporations  36,404 10,484 –    –   

  - Quoted bond  1,030 1,040 1,030 1,040
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21. Investments (cont’d)
  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Movements in impairment loss are as follows :

(i) Quoted equity shares in corporations :

  Balance at beginning of year  –    1,215 –    –   
  Provision/(reversal) made during the year  3,200 (1,215) –    –   

  Balance at end of year  3,200 –    –    –   

(ii) Unquoted equity shares in a corporation :

  Impairment loss recognised during the year –    3,700   –    –   

 Included in the investment in unquoted shares as at 31 December 2004 are advances provided by the Group to 
Gardenia Foods (Thailand) Ltd (“GFT”).  When GFT fulfils the requisite criteria for an initial public offer and listing of 
its shares on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (“IPO”), the advances will be repaid in the form of shares in GFT and 
the maximum number of shares shall not exceed 18% of the total issued and paid up share capital of GFT upon its 
IPO.  The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are not expected to be repaid within the next twelve 
months.

22. Intangibles 
  
  Goodwill Trademark Total
    Company Others 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 Group  
 
 Cost     
 At beginning of the year  _ 2,750 826 3,576  
 Acquisition of additional interest in
  an associated company  9,474 – – 9,474
 Currency realignment  – – 1 1

 At end of year  9,474 2,750 827 13,051

 Accumulated amortisation
 At beginning of the year  – 1,904 28 1,932
 Amortisation for the year (Note 5)  118 138 35 291
 Currency realignment  – – –    –   

 At end of the year  118 2,042 63 2,223

 Net book value
 At end of the year  9,356 708 764 10,828
 

At beginning of the year  – 846 798 1,644

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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23. Other payables

  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Payable within one year :
   Staff related expenses  14,206 11,905 825 760
   Accrued operating expenses  14,563 10,216 335 1,252
   Sundry creditors  7,825 4,483 3,727 –   

   36,594 26,604 4,887 2,012

 Payable after one year :
   Provision for long service leave  8,167 7,362 –    –   
   Amounts due to subsidiary companies  –    –    9,537 33,930

   8,167 7,362 9,537 33,930

 The amounts due to subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free, have no fixed terms of repayment and are 
not expected to be repaid in the next twelve months.

 Movement in provision for long service leave are as follows :

 Balance at beginning of year  7,362 5,447 –    –   
 Currency realignment  30 1,655 –    –   
 Provision made during the year  1,025 468 –    –   
 Amounts utilised  (250) (208) –    –   

 Balance at end of year  8,167 7,362 –    –   

24. Short-term borrowings 
  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Short-term bank loans :
 -  unsecured  52,366 69,679 48,111 67,302
 -  secured  24,230 19,712 –    –   

   76,596 89,391 48,111 67,302

 The short-term bank loans bear interest at rates ranging from 1.14% to 6.14% (2003 : 0.82% to 6.89%) per annum.  
The secured portion of the borrowings as at 31 December 2004 is charged on the raw materials purchased by a 
subsidiary company.
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25. Long-term loans and finance leases
  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Loans from banks :
 -  Loan A  9,830 7,944
 -  Loan B  14,000 21,000
 -  Loan C  2,000 3,000
 -  Loan D  64,127 76,419
 -  Finance leases  898 –   

   90,855 108,363
 Less : Current portion  (44,784) (48,849)

 Non-current portion of loans  46,071 59,514

 Loan A bears interest ranging from 3.48% to 3.67% (2003 : 3.5% to 3.8%) per annum and are repayable in equal 
monthly instalments over two years commencing from 15 July 2005.

 Loans B and C bear interest ranging from 1.73% to 2.48% (2003 : 1.69% to 2.33%) per annum and are repayable 
in 20 equal quarterly instalments commencing from January 2002.  The loans are guaranteed by the Company and 
certain subsidiary companies.

 Loan D bears interest at 6.40% (2003 : 6.19%) per annum and are repayable in 10 semi-annual instalments 
commencing from October 2003.  The loan is guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiary companies, 
subordination of certain inter-company balances amounting to $58,558,000 (2003 : $94,562,000) and compliance 
with financial covenants.

 Commitments under finance leases as at 31 December 2004 are as follows:

    Minimum Present  
   lease value of

    payments payments  
   $’000 $’000

 Within one year    351    290
 Between one and five years    655    608
 After five years    –  – 

 Total minimum lease payments    1,006 898
 Less: Amount representing finance charges    (108) – 

 Present value of minimum lease payments    898 898 

 Interest rates on finance leases range from 6.74% to 9.48% (2003 : nil) per annum.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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26. Deferred taxation
  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of year  8,372 40,366 450 206
 Currency realignment  (276) 4,491 –    –   
 Disposal of subsidiary companies  –    (1,298) –    –   
 (Reversal)/provision during the financial year  (356) (35,187) (243) 244 

 Balance at end of year  7,740 8,372 207 450

 The deferred taxation arises as a result of :
 Excess of net book value over tax written down 
  value of property, plant and equipment  6,039 7,310 –    –   
 Excess of net book value over tax value of 
  livestock of an overseas subsidiary company  16,638 17,008 –    –   
 Excess of net book value over tax value of certain 
  raw material of an overseas subsidiary company 1,237 1,404 –    –   
 Unutilised tax losses  (8,893) (12,190) –    –   
 Sundry provisions  (3,340) (2,562) –    –   
 Employee benefits  (4,584) (4,187) 42 –   
 Earnings which are retained overseas  177 520 165 450
 Others  466 1,069 –    –   

   7,740 8,372 207 450

 Analysis of deferred taxation :
 - deferred tax assets  (2,543) (1,884) –    –   
 - deferred tax liabilities  10,283 10,256 207 450

   7,740 8,372 207 450

27. Share capital 
  Group and Company
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Authorised :
    1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.40 each  400,000 400,000

 Issued and fully paid :
   Stock units of $0.40 each 
  Balance at beginning of year  
      351,280,373 (2003 : 336,750,373) stock units of $0.40 each  140,512 134,700
   Issued during the year  
      88,482,593 (2003 : 14,530,000) stock units of $0.40 each  35,393 5,812

   Balance at end of year 
      439,762,966 (2003 : 351,280,373) stock units of $0.40 each  175,905 140,512
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27. Share capital (cont’d)

 During the financial year :

(i) the Company issued 530,000 (2003 : 30,000) ordinary shares of $0.40 each for cash at the exercise price 
of $0.43 per share upon the exercise of 530,000 (2003 : 30,000) share options by employees pursuant to 
the QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 2000  (“2000 Scheme”); and

(ii)  There was an issue of 87,952,593 shares pursuant to a rights issue undertaken by the Company during the 
year.

 A rights issue was carried out in October 2004 of between a minimum of 87,952,593 and a maximum of 89,370,093 
new ordinary share of par value $0.40 each (“Rights Shares”) in the capital of the Company at an issue price of 
$0.50 for each Rights Share on the basis of 1 Rights Share with 1 warrant (“Warrants 2009”) for every 4 existing 
ordinary shares in the Company, each warrant carrying the right to subscribe for 1 ordinary share in the capital of 
the Company at the exercise price of $0.50 for each new share.  Warrants 2009 are valid for exercise within a period 
of 5 years commencing on and including the date of issue of the Warrants 2009.  The rights issue was closed on 
8 November 2004.  A total of 87,952,593 ordinary shares in the Company and 87,952,593 Warrants 2009 were 
issued/ allotted on 17 November 2004 and the Warrants 2009 are listed and quoted on the SGX-ST.

28. Reserves
  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Non-distributable reserves
 Share premium  13,619 4,996 13,619 4,996
 Revaluation reserve  2,409 2,457 –    –   
 Capital reserve  16,235 16,235 –    –   

   32,263 23,688 13,619 4,996
 Distributable reserves
 Revenue reserve  97,608 92,805 78,687 77,050
 Foreign currency translation reserve  2,645 6,962 –    –   

   100,253 99,767 78,687 77,050

   132,516 123,455 92,306 82,046

 Analysis of movement in the reserves of the Company :
  Company
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Share premium
 At beginning of year  4,996 2,821
 Premium arising on issuance of shares during the year  8,623 1,454
 Transfer from capital reserve upon exercise of Warrants 2003  –    721

 At end of year  13,619 4,996

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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28. Reserves (cont’d)

  Company
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Capital reserve
 At beginning of year  –    721
 Transfer to share premium account upon exercise of Warrants 2003  –    (721)

 At end of year  –    –   

 Revenue reserve
 At beginning of year  77,050 34,245
 Net profit for the year  7,266 48,058
 Dividends  (5,629) (5,253)

 At end of year  78,687 77,050 

 Share premium 

 The share premium account represents net cash proceeds received in excess of the par value of the shares issued 
by the Company.  The utilisation of the share premium account is governed by Sections 69-69F of the Companies 
Act.

 Revaluation reserve

 The revaluation reserve comprises surplus arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment by a 
subsidiary company.  In each financial year, an amount is transferred to the revenue reserve to match the additional 
depreciation charge on the revalued assets.

 Capital reserve

 Capital reserve of the Company comprise the value attributed to Warrants 2003 less amounts transferred to the 
share premium account upon the exercise of Warrants 2003.  

 Capital reserve of the Group comprise the capital reserve of the Company and amounts transferred from the 
revenue reserve due to bonus shares issued by a subsidiary company as fully paid shares through capitalisation of 
its revenue reserve.

 Foreign currency translation reserve

 The foreign currency translation reserve comprise translation differences arising from the translation of assets and 
liabilities of foreign subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies for inclusion in the consolidated financial 
statements and exchange differences arising from the long-term intercompany balances which are effectively part 
of the net investment.
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29. Dividends paid and proposed

 The Directors have proposed a first and final dividend of 2 cents (2003 : 2 cents) per stock unit, net of tax at 20% 
(2003 : 20%), amounting to $7,036,207  (2003 : $5,628,966) be paid in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2004.  The dividend will be recorded as a liability in the balance sheet of the Company and Group upon 
approval of the shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

30. Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents consist cash on hand, cash at bank and fixed deposits with financial institutions.

 Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise the following balance sheet 
amounts :

  Group
   2004 2003
   $’000 $’000

 Cash and bank balances  20,288 23,175
 Fixed deposits with financial institutions  15,942 60,407

   36,230 83,582

31. Employee benefits

(i) Share options

 The Group has granted share options to eligible employees under The QAF Limited Share Option Scheme 
2000 (“2000 Scheme”).

 The 2000 Scheme was approved by the members of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 12 May 2000. The total number of shares in respect of which options may be offered on any offering 
date, when added to the number of shares issued or issuable in respect of options under this Scheme shall 
not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the Company on the day preceding that offering date.

 The exercise price of each share in respect of an option granted may be (i) the average of the last dealt 
prices of the shares of the Company, as determined by reference to the Financial News or other publication 
published by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, for the three consecutive trading days 
immediately preceding the date of grant of that option (“Market Price”) or (ii) at a discount not exceeding 
20% of the Market Price, but in any event no exercise price shall be less than the par value of the share.

 An option granted without discount to the Market Price shall be exercisable from the 1st anniversary to the 
10th anniversary of the offer date.  An option granted at a discount to the Market Price shall be exercisable 
from the 2nd anniversary to the 10th anniversary of the offer date.

 The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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31. Employee benefits (cont’d)

(i) Share options (cont’d)

 Information with respect to the total number of options granted under the 2000 Scheme are as follows :

    Weighted  Weighted
   No. of  average No. of average
   options in exercise price options in exercise price
   financial in financial financial in financial
   year 2004 year 2004 year 2003 year 2003
   ‘000 $ ‘000 $

 Outstanding at beginning of year  7,783 0.605 8,207 0.604
 Granted  3,755 0.523 –    –
 Exercised  (530) 0.430 (30) 0.555
 Lapsed/forfeited  (1,658) 0.815 (394) 0.579

 Outstanding at end of year  9,350 0.545 7,783 0.605

 Exercisable at end of year  5,660 0.559 7,783 0.605

 The following table summarises information about options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 December 
2004 to subscribe for ordinary shares of $0.40 each in the Company :

  Outstanding   Exercisable  
 Date of grant Number of Exercise price Exercise period Number of

  Options per share From To Options

 26.05.2000 2,005,000  $0.630 26.05.2001 25.05.2010 2,005,000
 19.04.2001 1,023,000  $0.430 19.04.2002 18.04.2011 1,023,000
 05.04.2002 2,632,000  $0.555 05.04.2003 04.04.2012 2,632,000
 13.05.2004 3,690,000  $0.523 13.05.2005 12.05.2014 –
      
  9,350,000    5,660,000

      

 Included in the options outstanding as at 31 December 2004 are 950,000 (2003 : nil) options granted to the 
executive directors of the Company.

(ii) Retirement benefits

 The Group’s companies in Australia (namely the QAF Meats Group of companies) operate a superannuation 
scheme that include The QAF Meats Group Superannuation Fund (Defined Benefits) (the “Fund”).  The 
Fund is managed by an external administrator and the assets of the Fund are held in a separate trustee-
administered fund.  The Fund guarantees its members (i.e. the employees) a superannuation payout based 
on level of salary and years of service, irrespective of the investment returns which the fund makes.  As at 
31 December 2004, the net market value of the assets held by the Fund to meet future payments amounted 
to $23,137,000 (2003 : $20,040,000) as compared to the present value of employee’s accrued and vested 
benefit of $22,751,000 (2003 : $20,464,000).  The last actuarial assessment was completed as at 1 October 
2001 by an independent actuary and updated to 31 December 2004 by the fund administrator.  An expected 
rate of return of approximately 6.5% (2003 : 6.5%) per annum and a discount rate of approximately 4.0% 
(2003 : 4.0%) formed part of the assumptions used by the actuary.
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31. Employee benefits (cont’d)

(ii) Retirement benefits (cont’d)

 The superannuation scheme also include The QAF Meats Group Superannuation Fund (Accumulation).  By 
definition, the asset valuation of this fund is the vested benefit of members.  Members are entitled to their 
contributions, and those of the company, along with the return on investment the fund has achieved in their 
time of membership.  This fund is managed by an external administrator and the assets of the Fund are 
invested with external fund managers.

32. Commitments

(i) Capital commitments not provided for in the fi nancial statements :

  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      Expenditure contracted for :
      -  proposed expansion of manufacturing 
   facilities  947 8,684 –    –   
  -  capital contribution  6,461 8,505 –    –   
  -  others  329 60 –    –   
     7,737 17,249 –    –   
      Approved by the directors but not 
   contracted for  325 7,039 7 501

     8,062 24,288 7 501

(ii) Commitments to purchase bulk supplies 
   of raw materials  1,837 5,867 –    –   

(iii) Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases with a term of more than one year.  The minimum 
lease payments are :

  Leases which expire :
    Within one year  2,817 2,854 –    –   
    Between one and five years  7,985 7,401 –    –   
    After five years  27,871 30,151 –    –   

     38,673 40,406 –    –   

 The Group leases office premises, warehousing/trading facilities, retail outlets and passenger and commercial 
vehicles under operating leases.  The leases typically run for an initial period of  3 to 50 years, with an option 
to renew the lease after that date.  Lease rentals are usually adjusted during the renewals to reflect market 
rentals.

(iv) In the ordinary course of its business, the Company, as the holding company, has given undertakings to 
continue to provide financial support to certain subsidiary companies.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
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33. Contingent liabilities (unsecured)

  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Guarantees issued for bank facilities granted 
  to subsidiary companies  –    –    153,570 210,234

 Amounts utilised by subsidiaries 
  as at balance sheet date  –    –    80,127 100,419

 (b) Outstanding forward exchange contracts 5,251 4,213 –    –   

 At the balance sheet date, there is no material unrealised gain/(loss) on these contracts.

(c) Claims by subsidiary companies’ employee 
 union and ex-employees via industrial 

  court case  716 745 –    –

No material losses are expected to arise from the above contingencies.

34. Related party transactions

 The following related party transactions took place during the financial year on terms agreed by the parties concerned :

  Group Company
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Purchases from related parties  92 269 –    –   
 Sales to related parties  –    24,775 –    –   
 Rental paid to a related party  38 102 38 102
 Purchase of property, plant and
   equipment from a related party  –    1,200 –    1,200

 The related parties above refer to entities affiliated with the controlling shareholder of the Company.



84 QAF Annual Report 04

35. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The main risks faced by the Group are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk that arise through its 
normal operations.

 Foreign currency risk

 Foreign exchange risk arises from a change in foreign currency exchange rate, which is expected to have adverse 
effect on the Group in the current reporting period and in future years.  The Group operates within the Asia 
Pacific region and companies within the Group maintain their books and records in their respective measurement 
currencies.  The Group’s accounting policy is to translate the profits and losses of overseas companies using the 
weighted average exchange rates.  Net assets denominated in foreign currencies and held at the year end are 
translated into Singapore dollars, the Group’s reporting currency, at year end exchange rates.  Fluctuations in the 
exchange rate between the measurement currency of the subsidiary companies and Singapore dollars will therefore 
have an impact on the Group.  It is the Group’s policy not to hedge exposures arising from such translations.  The 
Group may pursue such a policy in the future if the need arises.  The Group aims to fund overseas operations with 
borrowings denominated in their measurement currency as a natural hedge against overseas assets.

 The Group’s subsidiary companies in Australia and Malaysia use foreign currency forward exchange contracts with 
settlement period within 6 months from the year end to manage foreign currency exposures arising from normal 
trading activities.  The outstanding forward exchange contracts are disclosed in Note 33.

 Interest rate risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will have an adverse financial effect on the Group’s financial 
conditions and/or results.  The primary source of the Group’s interest rate risk is its borrowings from banks and 
other financial institutions in Singapore, Malaysia and Australia.  The Group does not hedge interest rate risks.  
The Group ensures that it obtains borrowings at competitive interest rates under the most favourable terms and 
conditions.

 Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk that entities and individuals will be unable to meet their obligations to the Group resulting in 
financial loss to the Group.  It is the Group’s policy to enter into transactions with a diversity of creditworthy parties 
to mitigate any significant concentration of credit risk.  The Group ensures that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with appropriate credit history and has internal mechanisms to monitor the granting of credit 
and management of credit exposures.  The Group has made provisions, where necessary, for potential losses on 
credits extended.  The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the counterparties fail to perform 
their obligations in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as 
indicated in the balance sheet.  The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.

 Financial risk

 The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in prices of pig and animal feeds.  The Group has not 
entered into derivative or other contracts to manage the risk or a decline in pig prices or of an increase in the price 
of animal feeds.  The Group reviews its outlook for pig and animal feed prices regularly in considering the need for 
active financial risk management.

 Derivative financial instruments

 The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

 The fair values of the investment in the quoted equity shares and bonds are disclosed in Notes 15 and 21.  Market 
prices have been used to determine the fair values of the quoted investments.  In the opinion of the Directors, it 
is impractical to determine the fair value of the unquoted equity shares in subsidiary, associated and joint venture 
companies.  There are no material differences between the book and fair values of the Group’s other financial 
assets and liabilities.

36. Financial risk management strategies relating to livestock

 The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from the change in cost and supply of feed ingredients and the selling 
price of pork and related products, all of which are determined by constantly changing market forces of supply and 
demand, and other factors.  The other factors include environmental regulations, weather conditions and livestock 
diseases.  The Group has little or no control over these conditions and factors.  

 The Group is subject to risks affecting the food industry generally, including risks posed by food spoilage and 
contamination.  Specifically, the fresh meat industry is regulated by numerous environmental, health and food 
safety organisations and regulatory sanctions.  The Group has put into place systems to monitor food safety risks 
throughout all stages of manufacturing and processing to mitigate these risks.  Despite the precautions taken 
by the Group, the authorities may impose additional regulatory requirements that may require significant capital 
investment at short notice.

 The Group is subject to risks relating to its ability to maintain animal health status.  Livestock health problems 
could adversely impact production and consumer confidence.  The Group monitors the health of its livestock on 
daily basis and have procedures in place to reduce potential exposure to infectious diseases.  Although policies 
and procedures have been put into place, there is no guarantee that the Group will not be affected by disease 
epidemics.

 The livestock industry is exposed to risks associated with the supply and price of raw materials, mainly grain prices.  
Grain prices fluctuate depending on the harvest results, like the worst Australian drought in living memory that 
severely affected the grain production during the previous year.  The shortage in the supply of grain will result in 
adverse fluctuation in the price of grain and will ultimately increase the Group’s production cost. If necessary, the 
Group will enter into forward contracts to secure the supply of grain at reasonable price.  Details of such forward 
contracts are disclosed in Note 32.
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37. Discontinued operation

 On 15 November 2003, the Group disposed its 51% interest in Shop N Save Pte Ltd and the Group discontinued 
its supermarket operations with the disposal of Shop N Save Pte Ltd.  The Group also disposed its 100% interest 
in Gardenia Foods (Thailand) Limited during that financial year.

 The carrying amounts of total assets and liabilities disposed are as follows :

    Group
    2003
    $’000

 Total assets   76,561
 Total liabilities   (54,637)

    21,924

 The revenues, expenses and results from the ordinary operations up to the date of disposal and for the year ended 
31 December 2003 are as follows :

 Revenue   235,731
 Operating costs   (234,787)

 Profit from operations   944
 Finance costs   (64)

 Profit before taxation   880
 Taxation   (515)

 Profit for the period/year   365

 The net cash flows attributable are as follows :
 Operating   7,266
 Investing   (3,295)
 Financing   –   

 Net cash inflows/(outflows)   3,971

 The net gain on disposal is as follows :
 Proceeds from disposal    47,800
 Share of net assets   (11,127)

 Gain on disposal before taxation   36,673
 Taxation   –   

 Net gain on disposal   36,673

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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38. Segmental reporting

(a) Business segments

    Trading Investments
  Food Primary  and and Discontinued
  manufacturing production logistics others operations Eliminations Consolidated
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Revenue and expenses
 2004

 Revenue from external 
  customers 229,455 258,236 112,920 12,535 –    –    613,146
 Other revenue from external
  customers 1,503 3,046 527 928 –    –    6,004
 Inter-segment revenue 757 19,733 467 10,664 –    (31,621) –   
 Unallocated revenue –    –    –    –    –    –    847  

 Total revenue 231,715 281,015 113,914 24,127 –    (31,621) 619,997

 Segment results 28,992 3,494 (147) (189) –    –    32,150

 Unallocated revenue       847
 Unallocated expenses       (6,421)

 Profit from operating 
  activities       26,576
 Finance costs       (8,158)
 Exceptional items       (1,866)
 Share of profit of associated 
  and joint venture 
  companies       650 

 Profit before taxation and       17,202
  minority interests
 Taxation       (4,579)
 Minority interests       (2,262)

 Net profit for the 
  financial year       10,361
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38. Segmental reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)

    Trading  Investments
  Food Primary  and and Discontinued
  manufacturing production logistics others operations Eliminations Consolidated
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Revenue and expenses
 2003

 Revenue from external 
  customers 214,926 242,796 113,328 –    232,235 –    803,285
 Other revenue from external
  customers 1,524 2,270 952 629 –    –    5,375
 Inter-segment revenue 4,392 13,113 4,307 9,017 659 (31,488) –   
 Unallocated revenue –    –    –    –    –    –    728

 Total revenue 220,842 258,179 118,587 9,646 232,894 (31,488) 809,388

 Segment results 27,419 (41,325) 1,712 1,241 1,511 –    (9,442)

 Unallocated revenue       728
 Unallocated expenses       (4,812)

 Loss from operating 
  activities       (13,526)
 Finance costs       (10,431)
 Exceptional items       32,973
 Share of loss of associated 
  and joint venture 
  companies       (496)

 Profit before taxation and
  minority interests       8,520
 Taxation       27,942
 Minority interests       (3,871)
 Net profit for the 
  financial year       32,591

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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38. Segmental reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)

    Trading  Investments
  Food Primary  and and Discontinued
  manufacturing production logistics others operations Eliminations Consolidated
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Assets and liabilities
 2004

 Segment assets 141,434 292,158 74,127 95,750 –    –    603,469
 Associated and
  joint venture companies  2,341 12,547 –    –    –    –    14,888

 Total assets 143,775 304,705 74,127 95,750 –    –    618,357

 Deferred tax asset       2,543
 Tax recoverable       2,124

 Total assets per 
  consolidated  
  balance sheet       623,024

 Segment liabilities 34,196 45,229 16,725 10,946   107,096
 Provision for taxation       3,792
 Deferred taxation       10,283
 Bank borrowings       167,451

 Total liabilities per 
  consolidated
  balance sheet       288,622

 Assets and liabilities
 2003

 Segment assets 129,121 289,320 66,492 86,264 –    –    571,197
 Associated and
   joint venture companies  2,483 3,633 –    –    –    –    6,116

 Total assets 131,604 292,953 66,492 86,264 –    –    577,313

 Deferred tax asset       1,884
 Tax recoverable       1,924

 Total assets per 
  consolidated 
  balance sheet       581,121

 Segment liabilities 27,436 47,039 10,213 3,308 –    –    87,996
 Provision for taxation       4,803
 Deferred taxation       10,256
 Bank borrowings       197,754

 Total liabilities per 
  consolidated 
  balance sheet       300,809
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38. Segmental reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)

    Trading  Investments
  Food Primary  and and Discontinued
  manufacturing production logistics others operations Eliminations Consolidated
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Other segment information
 2004

 Capital expenditure 18,487 794 736 8,074 –    –    28,091
 Amortisation and 
  depreciation 13,734 10,772 2,395 840 –    –    27,741
 Impairment loss reversed (1,500) – – – – – (1,500)

 Other segment information
 2003

 Capital expenditure 19,657 4,065 729 2,428 3,405 –    30,284
 Amortisation and 
  depreciation 12,912 9,258 2,373 307 4,488 –    29,338
 Impairment loss, net 1,000 –    –    –    –    –    1,000

(b) Geographical segment

       Other
  Singapore Malaysia Australia Philippines China countries Consolidated
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 2004

 Revenue from external 
  customers 157,735 149,071 238,493 39,980 472 33,399 619,150
 Unallocated revenue       847

 Total revenue 157,735 149,071 238,493 39,980 472 33,399 619,997

 Segment assets 177,131 93,106 316,289 24,365 7,461 2 618,354

 Capital expenditure 2,599 13,188 7,647 4,118 539 –    28,091

 2003

 Revenue from external 
  customers 376,900 144,826 190,037 29,800 23,314 43,783 808,660
 Unallocated revenue       728

 Total revenue 376,900 144,826 190,037 29,800 23,314 43,783 809,388

 Segment assets 171,634 90,531 286,189 20,715 8,238 6 577,313

 Capital expenditure 7,859 16,208 4,120 2,095 –    2 30,284

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies

(a) The subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2004 are :-

 Name of company Principal activities  Percentage of equity
 (Country of incorporation) (place of business) Cost held by the group
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 % %

 Food manufacturing, retailing,
   trading and logistics

 Ben Foods (S) Pte Ltd ① Trading and distribution of food and 14,204 14,204 100 100
 (Singapore) beverage products
  (Singapore) 

@ Ben Foods (East Malaysia)  Operation of supermarkets  �  �  100 100
 Sdn Bhd ② (Malaysia)
 (Malaysia) 

 Ben Trading (Malaysia)  Trading and distribution of food and �  �  100 100
 Sdn Bhd ② beverage products
 (Malaysia) (Malaysia) 

 Spices of the Orient Pte Ltd ① Manufacture and trading of spices 5,126 5,126 100 100
 (Singapore) (Singapore)

* Highwood Pte Ltd  Retail and sale of liquor, soft drinks,  �  –    100 –   
 (Singapore) café and snacks 

 Gardenia Foods (S) Pte Ltd ① Bread manufacturer 5,516 5,516 100 100
 (Singapore) (Singapore) 

    Gardenia Bakeries (KL)  Bread manufacturer + + 70 70
 Sdn Bhd ② (Malaysia)
 (Malaysia) 

    Gardenia Sales & Distribution  Marketing and distribution of + + 70 70
 Sdn Bhd ② bakery products
 (Malaysia) (Malaysia) 
   
 Farmland Central Bakery (S)  Purchasing agent of bread, confectionery 500 500 100 100
 Pte Ltd ① and bakery products
 (Singapore) (Singapore)  
 

    Millif Industries Sdn Bhd ② Manufacture of kaya and related products 360 360 65 65
 (Malaysia) (Malaysia) 

    Ben Fortune Pastry  Manufacture and distribution of �  �  100 100
 Manufacturing (M) Sdn Bhd ② confectionery and pastry
 (Malaysia) (Malaysia) 
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities  Percentage of equity
 (Country of incorporation) (place of business) Cost held by the group
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 % %

 Food manufacturing, retailing,
   trading and logistics (cont’d)

 NCS Cold Stores (S) Pte Ltd ① Operation of warehousing logistics 16,940 16,940 100 100
 (Singapore) (Singapore) 

 QAF Fruits Cold Store  Operation of cold storage warehouse + + 62 58
 Pte Ltd ① (Singapore)
 (Singapore) 

    Gardenia Bakeries (Philippines)  Manufacture and distribution of bread,  + + 100 100
 Inc. ④ confectionery and bakery products
 (Philippines) (Philippines) 

 Bonjour Bakery Pte Ltd ① Marketing and distribution of bread,  + + 100 100
 (Singapore) confectionery and bakery products
  (Singapore) 

 Delicia Sdn Bhd ② Manufacture of bread, confectionery + + 100 100
 (Malaysia)  and bakery products
  (Malaysia) 

* Bakers Maison (Australia)  Manufacture of confectionery and + –    100 –
 Pty Ltd  bakery products
 (Australia) (Australia)

 Production, processing and
 marketing of pork, and
 feedmill production

 QAF Feeds Pty Ltd ⑥ Manufacturing of stockfeed and sales + + 100 100
 (Australia) and distribution of animal feed products
  (Australia) 

 QAF Meat Industries Pty Ltd ⑥ Intensive pig production and wholesaling + + 100 100
 (Australia) (Australia) 

 QAF Meat Processors  Pig slaughtering and meat boning + + 100 100
 Pty Ltd ⑥ (Australia)
 (Australia)  

 Brooksbank Properties  Intensive pig production and wholesaling + + 100 100
 Pty Ltd ⑥ (Australia)
 (Australia) 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities  Percentage of equity
 (Country of incorporation) (place of business) Cost held by the group
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 % %

 Production, processing and
 marketing of pork, and
 feedmill production (cont’d)

 Fujian Dongjia Feeds Co Ltd ⑤ Inactive + + 100 100
 (People’s Republic of China) (People’s Republic of China) 

 Milk/Dairy Production

 Oxdale Dairy Enterprise  Milk production + –    100 –
 Pty Ltd ⑥ (Australia)
 (Australia)
     
 Challenge Australian Dairy  Collection and sale of raw milk and + –    51 –
 Pty Ltd ⑦ the manufacture of dairy products
 (Western Australia) (Western Australia)
    
 Investment holding and 
 management

 QAF Management  Investment holding �  �  100 100
 Services (S) Pte Ltd ① (Singapore)
 (Singapore) 

 QAF Agencies (S) Pte Ltd ① Share trading and investment holding �  �  100 100
 (Singapore) (Singapore) 

 Pemscorp Pte Ltd ① Investment holding 5,092 5,092 100 100
 (Singapore)  (Singapore) 
 
 Oxdale International Pte Ltd ①  Investment holding 12,501 �  100 100
 (Singapore) (Singapore)
 
 Gardenia International (S)  Investment holding 7,993 7,993 100 100
 Pte Ltd ① (Singapore) 
 (Singapore) 

 Singfood Investment Pte Ltd ① Investment holding �  �  100 100
 (Singapore) (Singapore) 
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities  Percentage of equity
 (Country of incorporation) (place of business) Cost held by the group
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 % %

 Investment holding and 
 management (cont’d)

 Hamsdale International  Investment holding 50,005 50,005 100 100
 Pte Ltd ① (Singapore) 
 (Singapore) 

 Hamsdale Australia Pty Ltd ⑥ Investment holding + + 100 100
 (Australia) (Australia) 

 Camellia Bakeries (S)  Investment holding + + 100 100
 Pte Ltd ① (Singapore) 
 (Singapore) 

* Edenc International Pte Ltd  Investment holding �  –    100 –  
 (Singapore) (Singapore)  

 Gardenia Investments  Investment holding + –    100 –
 Pte Ltd ① (Singapore) 
 (Singapore) 

 Oxdale Investments Pte Ltd ① Investment holding + –    100 –   
 (Singapore) (Singapore) 

 W.A. Oxdale Holdings  Investment holding + –    100 –  
 Pte Ltd ① (Singapore) 
 (Singapore)  

* Bakers Maison Pty Ltd  Investment holding + –    100 –  
 (Australia) (Australia)  

 Dormant corporations

 Auspeak Integrated Livestock  Dormant + + 100 100
 Farming (Fujian) Co. Ltd. ⑤
 (People’s Republic of China)  

★ Ben Foods (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Dormant – – 100 100
 (Malaysia)  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities  Percentage of equity
 (Country of incorporation) (place of business) Cost held by the group
   2004 2003 2004 2003
   $’000 $’000 % %

 Dormant corporations (cont’d)

 Ben (Malaysia) Holdings  Dormant �  �  100 100
 Sdn Bhd ②
 (Malaysia) 

   Gardenia Bakery & Foodstuff  Dormant –    6,350 –    100
 (Tianjin) Co Ltd ⑦
 (People’s Republic of China) 

    OSA Marketing  Dormant 175 175 100 100
 Associates (M) Sdn Bhd ②
 (Malaysia) 

@ Gardenia (Hong Kong)  Dormant �  �  100 100
 Limited ③
 (Hong Kong)

�    Everyday Bakery and  Dormant + + 70 70
 Confectionery Sdn Bhd ②  
 (Malaysia) 

 Bonjour Bakery Sdn Bhd ② Dormant + + 100 100
 (Malaysia) 

 Summit Rainbow Sdn Bhd ② Dormant + + 100 100
 (Malaysia) 

* Precious Fortune Limited Dormant �  �  100 100
 (British Virgin Islands) 
   118,412 112,261

Note

* Audit not required under the laws in the country of incorporation.
@ The cost of investment has been fully written off.
+ The shareholdings of these companies are held by subsidiary companies of QAF Limited.
�  The costs of investment in each of these companies is less than $1,000.
★ The subsidiary company has been placed under voluntary liquidation as at 31 December 2004
�  The subsidiary company ceased operations or became dormant during the financial year.

Audited by :
① Ernst & Young, Singapore
② Ernst & Young, Malaysia
③ Ernst & Young, Hong Kong
④ Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co, Philippines
⑤ Ernst & Young Hua Ming, China
⑥ Ernst & Young, Australia
⑦ Other firms of Certified Public Accountants
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies (cont’d)

    Percentage
 Name of company Principal activities of equity held
 (Country of incorporation) (Place of business) by the group
    2004 2003
    % %

(b) The associated companies as at 31 December 2004 are :

 Philfoods Fresh-Baked Products, Inc. Bread manufacturer 40 40
 (Philippines) (Philippines)  

 Phil Foods Properties Inc. Investment holding 40 40
 (Philippines) (Philippines) 

 China Delisi Holdings Pte Ltd Investment holding 27 –
 (Singapore) (Singapore)    

(c) The joint venture company as at 31 December 2004 is :
  
 Diamond Valley Pork Pty Ltd Pig meat processing and wholesale 51 51
 (Australia) (Australia) 

  
 The Group’s investment in Diamond Valley Pork Pty Ltd is treated as a joint venture as the company is jointly 

controlled with the other shareholder and the Group may have to give up the additional 1% share at the request of 
the other shareholder.

 Acquisition and disposal of subsidiary companies

(i) On 31 August 2004, a subsidiary company acquired 100% of the issued capital of Australian based Bakers 
Maison Group consisting of :

- Bakers Maison Pty Ltd
- Bakers Maison (Australia) Pty Ltd

 The cost of investment amounted to $2,813,496 and was settled by cash.  The Bakers Maison Group 
contributed revenue of $3,553,285 to the Group and incurred loss before taxation and after taxation of 
$186,729 for the period from 1 September 2004 to 31 December 2004.

 The total assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2004 amount to $5,742,000 and $3,111,000 
respectively.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
- 31 December 2004
(In Singapore dollars)
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39. Subsidiary, associated and joint venture companies (cont’d)

(ii) On 18 October 2004, a subsidiary company acquired 51% of the issued capital of Australian based 
Challenge Australian Dairy Pty Ltd.

 The cost of investment amounted to $9,759,450 and was settled by cash.  Challenge Australian Dairy Pty 
Ltd contributed revenue of $12,072,628 to the Group and incurred loss before taxation and after taxation 
and minority interest of $363,627 and $185,450 respectively for the period from 18 October 2004 to 31 
December 2004.

 The total assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2004 amount to $25,798,000 and $5,775,000 
respectively.

(iii) The disposal of Gardenia Bakery & Foodstuff (Tianjin) Co Ltd did not have any significant effect on the 
revenue and results of the Group in the current financial year.

40. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution duly passed by the directors 
on 8 March 2005.
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LIST OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

The Group’s major properties as at 31 December 2004 are:

Name of building/location Description Tenure of land

(a)     Properties in Singapore

#09-01 to #09-04
Fook Hai Building
Singapore

224 Pandan Loop
Singapore

230A Pandan Loop
Singapore

230B Pandan Loop
Singapore

263 Pandan Loop
Singapore

No. 1 Fishery Port Road
Singapore

No. 9 Fishery Port Road
Singapore

(b)     Properties in Malaysia

Lot 3 Jalan Gergaji 15/14
40000 Shah Alam, Selangor
Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Lot 3 Jalan Pelabur 23/1
Seksyen 23, Shah Alam,
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

Lot No. 3803
Mukim Klang, Daerah Klang, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

No. 23 & 25 Jalan PJS
11/16, Sunway Technology Park, 
Bandar Sunway
46150 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Office Use

Bakery and office premises

Cold store and office premises

Warehouse, bakery and office 
premises 

Spice grinding and blending
operations and office premises

Cold store, warehouse and office 
premises

Cold store and office premises

Bakery and office premises

Bakery and office premises

Bakery and office premises

Bakery and office premises

99 year lease from 18 January 1972

19-year lease from July 1991 with right 
to extend for further 30 years

17-year lease from August 1993 with 
right to extend for further 30 years

30-year lease from October 1981

30-year lease from May 1982 with right 
to extend for further 30 years

30-year lease from March 2003

30-year lease from March 1983

99-year lease from September 1984

99-year lease from July 1991

Freehold

99-year lease from January 1997
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The Group’s major properties as at 31 December 2004 are:

Name of building/location Description Tenure of land

101-A, Lot PT 26
Pekan Desa Puchong
Petaling Selangor
Malaysia

(c)     Properties in China

Yuan Hong Industrial Park
Fuqing, Fujian Province

(d)     Properties in Australia

Lot 1 & 2 on Plan of 
Subdivision 083535
RMB 2048 Parnell Road
Cobram, Victoria 3644 

Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 
322627H
RMB 2048 Parnell Road
Cobram, Victoria 3644

Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 093136
RMB 2048 Parnell Road
Cobram, Victoria 3644

Lot 2 on Plan of Subdivision 449539V
RMB 2048 Parnell Road
Cobram, Victoria 3644

Willow Grove Road
Crown Allotment 32 and 33
Trafalgar, Victoria 3824

Beenak Road
Seville, Victoria 3139

Huntly Farm No. 1 and 2
Bendigo-Tennyson Road
Huntly, Victoria 3351

Sunraysia Highway
St. Arnaud Unit 1
St. Arnaud, Victoria 3478

Bakery and office premises

Feed processing and office
premises

Dairy Farming

Dairy Farming

Dairy Farming

Dairy Farming

Piggery Farming

Piggery Farming

Piggery Farming

Piggery Farming

99-year lease from October 1997

50-year lease expiring 2050

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold
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LIST OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

The Group’s major properties as at 31 December 2004 are:

Name of building/location Description Tenure of land

Nelson Road
St Arnaud Units 2 & 3
St Arnaud, Victoria 3478

Gre Gre
(Northern and Southern Property)
Carrolls Bridge Road
Gre Gre, Victoria 3478

Corowa Piggery
Hudsons Road, Corowa
New South Wales 2646

Bungowannah
Howlong Road Bungowannah
New South Wales

Corowa Mill
Corowa, New South Wales 2646

Balpool 1 & 2
Balpool Stn
Balpool Lane Moulamein
New South Wales 2733

Lot 17, LP42510
13-15 Thomas Street
Laverton, North Victoria

Piggery Farming

Piggery Farming

Piggery Farming

Piggery Farming

Feedmilling

Piggery Farming

Abattoir

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold
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STATISTICS OF STOCKHOLDINGS
as at 14 March 2005

Authorised Share Capital :  $400,000,000
Issued and Fully paid-up Capital :  $175,905,186
Class of Shares :  Ordinary Shares of $0.40 with equal voting rights

Analysis of Stockholders by Size of Stockholdings

Size of Holdings No. of Stockholders % No. of Stock Units %

         1 -   999 407 7.84 70,559 0.02
  1,000 - 10,000 3,803 73.25 15,442,622 3.51
10,001 - 1,000,000 965 18.58 44,333,899 10.08
1,000,001 and above 17 0.33 379,915,886 86.39

5,192 100.00 439,762,966 100.00

List of Twenty Largest Stockholders

S/No. Stockholders’ Name  No. of Stock Units %

 1. Andree Halim @Liem Sien Tjong @ Liem Sien Tjiong 187,594,152 42.66
 2. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 60,579,820 13.78
 3. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 45,701,442 10.39
 4. Goi Seng Hui 24,103,750 5.48
 5. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 9,381,342 2.13
 6. Ee Hock Leong Lawrence 8,404,000 1.91
 7. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 7,900,512 1.80
 8. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 7,566,600 1.72
 9. Southern Nominees (S) Sdn Bhd 7,500,000 1.71
10. Chip Lian Investments Pte Ltd 6,831,000 1.55
11. Lee Kah Bao 3,500,000 0.80
12. OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 3,203,004 0.73
13. HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 2,570,000 0.58
14. Yee Seow Leng 1,500,000 0.34
15. Tan Kong King 1,250,000 0.28
16. Tan Siew Keng Christina 1,240,000 0.28
17. Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 1,090,264 0.25
18. Lim Sou Ping 879,000 0.20
19. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 771,001 0.18
20. Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 721,500 0.16

382,287,387 86.93

Substantial Stockholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total Interest
Substantial Shareholder No. of Shares % No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

Andree Halim 244,492,690 55.60 - - 244,492,690 55.60
Watford Investments Ltd 42,383,712 9.64 - - 42,383,712 9.64
Goi Seng Hui 24,103,750 5.48 - - 24,103,750 5.48
Didi Dawis* 3,437,000 0.78 42,383,712 9.64 45,820,712 10.42
Saiman Ernawan* - - 42,383,712 9.64 42,383,712 9.64

* Mr Didi Dawis and Mr Saiman Ernawan are deemed to have an interest in the stock units beneficially owned by Watford Investments Ltd 
by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.
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Analysis of Warrantholders by Size of Warrantholdings

Size of Holdings
No. of 

Warrantholders %
No. of

Warrants %

         1 -  999 43 4.71 20,643 0.02
  1,000 - 10,000 769 84.32 2,543,876 2.89
10,001 - 1,000,000 93 10.20 9,116,286 10.36
1,000,001 and above 7 0.77 76,271,788 86.72

912 100.00 87,952,593 100.00

List of Twenty Largest Warrantholders

S/No. Warrantholders’ Name  No. of Warrants %

 1. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 56,920,788 64.72
 2. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 5,723,250 6.50
 3. Goi Seng Hui 4,820,750 5.48
 4. Lee Kah Bao 4,159,000 4.73
 5. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 1,648,000 1.87
 6. Southern Nominees (S) Sdn Bhd 1,500,000 1.71
 7. Yee Seow Leng 1,500,000 1.71
 8. Ee Hock Leong Lawrence 851,000 0.97
 9. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 657,750 0.75
10. Tan Kong King 650,000 0.74
11. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 569,500 0.65
12. HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 520,000 0.59
13. Toh Ong Tiam 420,000 0.48
14. Chua Keng Hiang 400,000 0.45
15. Tan Kok Chi 369,000 0.42
16. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 341,100 0.39
17. Soon Kai Chung 338,000 0.38
18. Tan Siew Keng Christina 222,000 0.25
19. Lim Poh Fah Victor 179,000 0.20
20. Lim Sou Ping 176,000 0.20

81,965,138 93.19

STATISTICS OF WARRANTS
as at 14 March 2005
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at No. 224 Pandan Loop, 
Singapore 128411 on 29 April 2005 at 11.00 a.m. to transact the following business:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2004 
and the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a first and final dividend of 5% (2 cents per stock unit) less income tax at 20% in 
respect of the year ended 31 December 2004. (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors:

(a) Ms Tarn Teh Chuen (retiring under Article 94 of the Articles of Association) (Resolution 3a)

(b) Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun (retiring under Article 94 of the Articles of Association (Resolution 3b)

(c) Mr Phua Bah Lee (retiring under Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50) (Resolution 3c)

4. To approve Directors’ fees of $145,200 for the year ended 31 December 2004 (2003: 
$118,500). (Resolution 4)

5. To re-appoint Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and to authorise Directors to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 5)

6. To transact any other ordinary business of the Company which may be properly brought 
forward. (Resolution 6)

Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

7. “That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, 
bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might 
or would require shares to be issued, including  but not limited to the creation and 
issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments 
convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such 
persons as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in 
force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors 
while this Resolution was in force,

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares 
to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) 
does not exceed 50% of the issued share capital of the Company (as calculated in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to 
be issued other than on a pro rata basis to members of the Company (including shares to 
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does 
not exceed 20% of the issued share capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance 
with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited - “SGX-ST”) for the purpose of determining the aggregate 
number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage 
of issued share capital shall be based on the issued share capital of the Company at the 
time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities 
or share options which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution 
is passed; and

(ii) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time 
being of the Company; and

(4) contingent upon any new shares being issued and being credited as fully paid, the same 
shall be converted immediately into stock units of the Company, transferable in amounts 
and multiples of $0.40 each ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing stock units 
of the Company.” (Resolution 7)

8. “That 

(a) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant share options and to allot 
and issue such number of shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise 
of share options in accordance with the terms and conditions of the QAF Limited Share 
Option Scheme 2000; and

(b) contingent upon any new shares being issued and being credited as fully paid, the same 
shall be converted immediately into stock units of the Company, transferable in amounts 
and multiples of $0.40 each ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing stock units 
of the Company.” (Resolution 8)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE DATE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Transfer Books and Register of Members will be closed on 11 May 2005 for the 
purpose of determining stockholders’ entitlements to the first and final dividend of 5% (2 cents per stock unit) less income 
tax of 20% for the financial year ended 31 December 2004.  Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Registrar, 
Barbinder & Co Pte Ltd at 8, Cross Street, #11-00 PWC Building, Singapore 048424 up to 5.00 p.m. on 10 May 2005 will 
be registered before entitlements to the dividends are determined.  Payment for the dividend shall be made on 20 May 
2005.

Members whose Securities Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with stock units at 5.00 p.m. 
on 10 May 2005 will be entitled to the dividend.

By Order of the Board

LEE WOAN LING (Ms)
Company Secretary

Singapore, 8 April 2005



106 QAF Annual Report 04

Explanatory Notes:

i) For Ordinary Resolutions:

 3(a) – Ms Tarn Teh Chuen is an executive Director of the Company.

 3(b) - Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun is a non-executive independent Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee 
of the Company.

 3(c) - Mr Phua Bah Lee is a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.  As Mr 
Phua is over 70 years of age, S.153(6) of the Companies Act requires annual re-election of him as a Director at each 
Annual General Meeting of the Company. Mr Phua is considered by the Board as an independent Director and will 
remain as a member of the Audit Committee upon re-election.

 Further information on the above Directors can be found on page 10 and 11 of the Annual Report.

ii) Ordinary Resolutions 7 and 8, if passed will, unless otherwise revoked or varied at a general meeting, continue in 
force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

iii) Ordinary Resolution 8 authorises the Directors to issue shares pursuant to the exercise of options under the QAF 
Limited Share Option Scheme 2000 which was approved by the members of the Company on 12 May 2000. 
Further information on the key terms of the said Share Option Scheme 2000 can be found on page 41 of the 
Annual Report. Authority under Resolution 8 is in addition to the general authority to issue shares and/or convertible 
securities sought under Resolution 7.

Note:
A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in 

his/her stead.  Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.  The instrument of appointing a proxy or proxies, duly executed, must 

be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 150 South Bridge Road, #09-04 Fook Hai Building, Singapore 058727, at least 

48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



I/We 

of 

being a Member/Members of the abovenamed Company, hereby appoint  (i) 

of  or (ii) 

of 

or failing him/her the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held on 29 April 2005 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy to vote (see 
Note 3) for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as hereunder indicated.

NO. RESOLUTIONS For Against

1. To adopt the Directors Report and Accounts.

2. To declare a first and final dividend of 5% (2 cents per stock unit).

3. To re-elect Directors:

(a)   Ms Tarn Teh Chuen                                     

(b)   Mr Kelvin Chia Hoo Khun                                  

(c)   Mr Phua Bah Lee

4. To approve Directors’ fees.

5. To re-appoint Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company.

6. To transact any other ordinary business of the Company.

7. General Authority to issue shares and/or convertible securities.

8. Authority to issue shares pursuant to the Share Option Scheme 2000.

Signed this __________________________ day of _________________________ 2005 by:

Total Number of Shares in: No. of Shares

a)  CDP Register

b)  Register of Members Signature of Member(s) or Common Seal

PROXY FROM
Annual General Meeting of QAF Limited



Notes

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in 
his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company and where there is more than one proxy, the number of Stock Units to be 
represented by each proxy must be stated.

2. This Proxy Form must be signed by the appointor or his/her duly authorised attorney or, if the appointor is a body corporate, signed under its 
common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

3. Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the appropriate box against each Resolution how you wish your proxy to vote.  If this Proxy Form is returned 
without any indication as to how the proxy shall vote, the proxy will vote or abstain as he thinks fit.

4. This instrument appointing a proxy [together with the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed or a certified copy thereof, must be 
deposited at the office of the Company at 150 South Bridge Road, #09-04 Fook Hai Building, Singapore 058727 not less than 48 hours before 
the time fixed for holding the Annual General Meeting.

5. Please insert the total number of Stock Units held by you.  If you have Stock Units entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Stock Units.  If you have Stock Units registered 
in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Stock Units.  If you have Stock Units entered against your name in 
the Depository Register and Stock Units registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Stock 
Units entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Stock Units held by you.

6. The Company shall be entitled to reject this instrument of proxy if it is incomplete, not properly completed or illegible or where the true intention 
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in this instrument of proxy.  In addition, in case of 
members whose Stock Units are deposited with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), the Company may reject any instrument of proxy 
lodged if such member is not shown to have Stock Units entered against his name in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time fixed 
for holding the Annual General Meeting as certified by CDP to the Company.

-------------------------------------------------------------- Fold along this line (1) --------------------------------------------------------
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The Company Secretary
QAF Limited

150 South Bridge Road
#09-04 Fook Hai Building

Singapore 058727
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